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Key numbers from Balance Sheet and Income Statement

in US$
31.12.2009

31.12.2008

260,412,774
14,372,061
67,060,885
4,563,501
90,863,244
437,272,465

260,717,050
22,309,600
55,048,889
8,979,168
131,441,250
478,495,957

77,500,000
12,909,439
105,260,562

39,200,000
8,306,768
62,721,367

332,011,903

415,774,590

4,262,613

4,791,979

77.89

86.76

16,355,842
– 38,198,797
– 16,918,710

19,591,618
26,603,254
– 37,010,556

Net operating loss before finance cost

– 44,054,906

– 33,132,398

Net loss for the period

– 66,860,302

– 72,697,071

– 15.13

– 15.17

134,272,310

95,360,382

Assets
Investment properties
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Loans and receivables
Cash & cash equivalents
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Bank loans
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Total liabilities
Total equity
Number of shares outstanding
Net asset value per share
Results
Gross rental income
Net loss / gain from fair value adjustment on investment properties
Net loss from fair value adjustment on financial investments

Earnings per share
Market capitalisation
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Contents
2009 Results at a Glance

Cover

Statement of the Board of Directors

09 | 09

Operating and Financial Review

11 | 19

Property Review

20 | 25

Directors and Management

27 | 30

Corporate Governance Report

33 | 41

Report from the Principal External Valuers

43 | 45

Independent Auditor’s Report

46 | 47

Financial Report

49 | 83

Three-Year Financial Summary

84 | 84

Investment Guidelines

85 | 85

Glossary

86 | 87

Shareholder Information and
Corporate Details

88 | 88

3 Contents

Geneva House, Moscow

Petrovsky Fort, St. Petersburg

Geneva House, Moscow

Statement of the Board of Directors

Dear Shareholders,
For property companies in Russia, and almost anywhere
else, 2008 was a year which looked very good in the
start, and turned very bad by the end. In contrast, 2009
looked very bad in the start and changed very little.
Our real estate assets have been revalued significantly
downward for three reporting periods in a row, rental income has decreased dramatically as tenants have
either left for cheaper premises or gone out of business altogether, and debt capital is virtually unavailable.
Fortunately, we were very conservatively leveraged
when the current downturn began, and while we would
prefer to build out our pipeline, most of our major
expenditures are ultimately discretionary. A credit facility drawn early in 2009 provided ample capital to
complete Geneva House, a trophy office and retail property on Moscow’s Petrovka Street, and to repurchase
shares at a very attractive price. As a result, we are bringing a fresh property to market in 2010, and have been
able to temper the fall in our per share net asset value.
The asset base of Eastern Property Holdings has always included income producing properties, a strategy
which has served us well in the last two years. Building on our current portfolio of properties which are both
well located and well positioned will remain a key
focus of our strategy in the coming years.
Our first acquisition, Berlin House, a prime investment
property in central Moscow, has seen almost no tenant
turnover, and since most tenants entered the building
before rents rose to the heady levels of 2007 and 2008,
none have asked for adjustments. The property is today one of Moscow’s few Class A office properties for
which tenant turnover creates little risk of decreased
income as new leases are signed.

property has seen a substantial decrease in income, and
a dramatic increase in vacancy rate. The first signs of
a turnaround seem to be appearing at present, as new
tenants prove ready to sign at higher rents than six
months ago, and outnumber those who are departing.
We have owned a minority stake in Mosmart, a Russian retailer operating food stores in several size
formats and a number of Russian cities, and the portfolio of shopping center and office assets under
common ownership with the retailer. The economic
slowdown and liquidity crisis of late 2008 was very
difficult for highly leveraged retailers like Mosmart.
The company has been restructured with Sberbank,
Russia’s state savings bank, taking a majority stake in
the retailer and shopping centers in conjunction
with a significant refinancing. More details can be
found in the following report.
While we look forward to returning to our practice
of paying dividends in the future, we will not propose
a dividend for 2009.
No Russian property company has thrived in the last
two years, and we have not been the exception. However, our diversified property portfolio, which continues to generate cashflows, and our conservative approach to leverage, have allowed us to retain not only
our assets, but an optimistic view of the future and the
opportunities it should present.
Sincerely,
The Board of Directors

Petrovsky Fort, our St. Petersburg business center, has a
different profile, and many of our over 200 tenants
were no longer able to stay in the building, or in many
cases to survive as businesses. Consequently the
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Geneva House, Moscow

Operating and Financial Review

The following is a discussion of our financial condition and results of operations for 2009, and of the
factors we believe have materially affected our financial condition and results.
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”).
Our consolidated financial statements have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers SA, Geneva since 31 December 2004. Certain of our subsidiaries have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers in Moscow, Russia, and
Limassol, Cyprus. Our consolidated financial statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2003, which
included less than two months of operations as Eastern
Property Holdings, were audited by Ernst & Young SA,
Luxembourg.
Overview
Eastern Property Holdings Limited is a real estate investment and development company with a focus on
Russia, the CIS, and other formerly socialist countries
or their successors in Central or Eastern Europe. Our
objective is to generate long-term value appreciation by
acquiring or developing properties that allow us to
build on the strengths of our existing portfolio and capabilities, Though no dividend was paid for 2008, or will
be proposed for 2009, we will seek to resume our policy
of paying dividends to shareholders out of net rental
income as soon as we feel we are once again generating
sufficient cash flows that it is prudent to do so.
As of 31 December 2009, we had total assets of
US$ 437.27 million (compared to US$ 478.50 million
as of 31 December 2008) and net assets (calculated
as Total equity) of US$ 332.01 million (compared to
US$ 415.77 million as of 31 December 2008). In the
twelve months ended 31 December 2009 we generated
a net loss of US$ 66.86 million. In the year ended

31 December 2008 our net loss was US$ 72.70 million.
Revaluations of assets held at fair value and currency exchange rate fluctuations were principal factors
contributing to the volatility in our net profits and
net operating profits across these periods.
Limited Comparability of
Historical Financial Information
We have periodically attracted new capital from existing
shareholders and new investors in order to fund the
acquisition and development of real estate properties in
line with our business strategy, most recently in the
fourth quarter of 2007. We also repurchased a significant
number of our shares in 2009. As a result, the magnitude and nature of our assets, liabilities, shareholders
equity, net income and cash flows may not be directly comparable from period to period.
Factors Affecting
Our Results of Operations
Our results of operations are affected by certain factors
relating to our business and the markets in which we
operate, as well as the Russian political, economic and
legal environment. Many of these factors are outside
our ability to control or influence.
Yield compression and value appreciation
Russian property markets, especially the Moscow
office and retail sectors, have experienced substantial
yield compression between our founding in 2003,
and mid-2008. Conversely, since mid-2008 these markets have experienced significant yield expansion.
Capitalisation rates for fully-leased prime quality office
properties, which had declined from 17 % in 2001
to a range of 11 % to 12 % at the end of 2005, dropped
even further to under 9 % by December 2007. Though
transactions were done at yields of under 8 % early in
2008, by the end of the year, due to the global economic
crisis, the Russian property market was effectively
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frozen. No benchmark sale or rental transactions were
seen between the market’s peak in mid-2008 through
the end of the year. Valuers assumed that prime office
yields had returned to 10 % or higher. No proof to
the contrary was seen throughout 2009, and with most
prime assets in Moscow delivered when rents were
rising, the majority of properties had become overrented and warranted even higher capitalisation rates for
valuation purposes.
Average capitalisation rates for Moscow shopping center properties likewise continued to drop, from approximately 12 % in 2005 to approximately 10 % at the
end of 2007. In the first half of 2008 shopping center
yields were accepted to be approximately 8 %, but by
the end of the year, again without actual benchmark transactions, the assumption was that the next
transactions would be priced in the 12 % range.
Since that time, even higher yields have been assumed
by valuers, though still with little or no transactional
evidence.
Outside of Moscow, there have generally been even
fewer benchmark transactions, so yields are generally
based on a certain spread over Moscow.
Vacancy rates followed the same pattern and timing
as capitalisation rates. Rent levels, as would be expected in a market experiencing some of the world’s
lowest vacancy rates between 2005 and 2008, rose
until mid-2008, and dropped dramatically since.
Yield, vacancy and rent movements have resulted in
a significant amount of volatility in our asset value and
rental income. Our results of operations in past years
have benefitted from the increasing valuations corresponding to yield compression and increasing rents.
Starting in 2008 our results have suffered from the sudden and severe reversal of the earlier trend.

Currency exchange rate fluctuations
Starting 1 November 2006, the US dollar is both functional and presentation currency for Eastern Property
Holdings Ltd. However, certain of our subsidiaries are
still required under IAS 21 to use the Russian ruble
as functional currency. As a result, dollar denominated
assets, which for these subsidiaries is primarily real
estate appraised in US dollars, create unrealised exchange rate gains or losses against the Russian
ruble on our income statements
Investments in Real Estate
Development Projects
Investments in real estate development projects represent a significant portion of our holdings and constitute an important part of our growth strategy. Investment in the execution of our development projects
has placed, and will continue to place, ongoing demands on our liquidity and capital resources.
Although such projects have the potential for capital
appreciation even in the short term, they typically
generate cash inflows only late in the development
process, meaning cash outflows may be required
for a number of years before a project begins to generate cash in the form of rental income, or sale or
refinancing proceeds.
These factors, contribute to our historical reliance
on external sources of financing to meet our funding
requirements.
Hypermarket and shopping center development
In recent years, the strong macroeconomic performance
of the Russian economy has supported an increase in
consumer retail spending, and Russian consumers have
increasingly shifted their retail spending from older
retail formats, such as open markets, kiosks and pavilions, to modern, Western-style retail formats, including hypermarkets and shopping centers. We sought

to capitalise on these trends, by acquiring minority
stakes in the development of Mosmart hypermarkets
and Mosmart-anchored shopping centers through
Sarnatus, and of future Mosmart-anchored shopping
centers through Hypercenter Investment SA. The
economic downturn starting in the second half of 2008
reversed most of the revaluation profits generated
by Sarnatus by the end of 2008, and additional downward revaluations of both investments brought the
values of each significantly below our original cost by
the end of 2009.
We own 25.9 % of Hypercenter Investment SA and 10 %
of Sarnatus.
Sarnatus
Sarnatus Trading (“Sarnatus”) is a Cyprus holding company with interests in Russian retailing and real estate. Eastern Property Holdings (“EPH”) has owned 10 %
of Sarnatus since 2004.
Since 2006, the carrying value of Sarnatus, a Financial
Investment held at Fair Value on the EPH balance
sheet, has been calculated by adding the value of its
retail operations based on market multiples for
listed peers, to the appraised value of the real estate,
then adjusting for the company’s debt.
In the year under review, the structure and asset base
of EPH’s investment has changed. Until late 2009,
the assets of Sarnatus were held through a number of
100 % owned subsidiaries. As was the norm with
Russian food retailers, until late-2008 Sarnatus focused
on rapid growth and took on leverage to fund its
race to gain market share. In the final months of 2008,
liquidity disappeared, and the heavily leveraged sector felt the credit crisis more acutely than most. Sberbank, the Russian state savings bank, and primary
lender to Sarnatus, was one of the institutions mandated by the Russian government to provide liquidity
to the sector in order to prevent a collapse of modern

food retailing. Mosmart was of sufficient size, in terms
of sales volume and employees, to benefit under the
government mandate. However, Sberbank also demanded a restructuring of the company and an equity stake.
In August 2009, the shareholders of Sarnatus agreed
to restructure the company, and forfeit a majority
stake in most Sarnatus assets in return for substantial
financing commitments from Sberbank.
Going forward, Mosmart, under a hand-picked management team with excellent credentials, and supported by the strongest financier in Russia – Sberbank
– should be able to re-establish a stable platform from
which to grow and to take advantage of the disarray
of its peers.
In October 2009, the restructuring was approved by
Russia’s Federal Antimonopoly Service (“FAS”). Though
not all aspects of the restructuring had been completed by 31 December 2009, no technical, regulatory,
or other hurdles remained, so we have valued the
company as though all asset transfers had already been
completed on balance sheet date.
Both Sberbank Capital LLC and its partner Bacarella
Retail Limited, which will manage the Mosmart business
on a day to day basis, became shareholders (50 % plus
1 share; 10 % plus 1 share respectively) in a new Cyprus
company, Anafi Enterprises Limited. Sarnatus holds
the remaining 40 % (minus 2 shares) of Anafi. All
Sarnatus assets – other than the Borovskoye office
building held in Hypercenter ABK, which will remain
100 % Sarnatus-owned, are to be transferred to Anafi.
As such, while our stake in Sarnatus remains unchanged at 10 %, Sarnatus itself has become the 40 %
shareholder in the Mosmart business and four Mosmart-anchored shopping centers in Moscow through
its stake in Anafi. In order to offset the dilutive effect of transferring core Sarnatus assets to Anafi, EPH
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and the founders of Sarnatus entered into an agreement in August 2009 which restores much of the value
lost to EPH in the restructuring. The Deed provides
for payment from the majority owners of Sarnatus to
EPH if they sell their interests, or the company’s assets are monetised in any foreseeable way.
Hypercenter Investment
In 2005, Hypercenter Investment was formed as a joint
venture among ourselves (with a 25.9 % stake), Jelmoli
(succeeded by Athris Holdings AG) (owning 49 %), and
the Mosmart co-founders (indirectly owning 25.1 %)
to facilitate the capital intensive roll-out of Mosmartanchored shopping centers in Moscow, St. Petersburg, Nizhny Novgorod, and other large cities in Russia.
After acquiring the development projects held by
Sarnatus (see above) at a cost-based price, Hypercenter
investment focused on construction of a two stage
project in Nizhny Novgorod, and bringing the other projects through planning and permitting stages.
We have not received audited financial information
for Hypercenter Investment for 2008 or 2009, and understand there is no other information available at
the holding company level. At balance sheet date, none
of the joint venture partners, including EPH, are willing to continue funding development of the project
pipeline.
Most of the project pipeline exists only as rights,
which in many cases have expired, or will expire before
it is realistic to complete the projects. Without continued investment in the projects, which cannot happen
without funding from the joint venture partners, the
rights to these projects are likely to be lost. As such, we
are assuming these projects will have no liquidation
value and will be completely written off.
Other than project rights, the assets of Hypercenter
Investment are the first stage of the shopping center in
Nizhny Novgorod which is almost completed, and a

land plot in Ryazan for development which is owned
outright by the joint venture. To value our stake in Hypercenter Investment, we have had the Nizhny Novgorod
shopping center appraised by Knight Frank, and, using
unaudited information supplied by management of
the joint venture, reduced the appraised value by the
amount of debt in the subsidiary. The land plot in
Ryazan is subject to a signed sale agreement, so the cash
payment to be received after debts in that subsidiary
have been satisfied has also been included. As we understand that Hypercenter Investment is not obligated
to pay the debts of its other subsidiary companies, any
outstanding debts related to the other projects have
not been considered.
The shareholders of Hypercenter Investment have funded
the company through shareholder loans. Having not
participated in the last round of lending to the company,
we have not provided our pro rata 25.9 % share of the
loans, but 23.05 %. Whether the loans are ultimately converted to equity, or the proceeds from selling the joint
venture’s assets are used to partially repay shareholder
debt, we believe our share of proceeds would not correspond to our current percentage ownership, but to our
percentage of the shareholder loans. As such, we have
recognised 23.05 % of the value of the company on our
balance sheet at 31 December 2009.
Geneva House development
We are 50 % owner of Geneva House, a 16,500 square
meter Class A mixed office and retail property commissioned in May 2009, with the title registered in September 2009, and requiring only internal engineering
and fit-out works at balance sheet date. Geneva House
is located at 7 Petrovka Street, adjacent to our Berlin
House property.
We have provided all financing for the development
of Geneva House, and taken the lead role in managing
the development process.

Geneva House has been built during the peak of
Russia’s post-Soviet construction boom: contractors
were unwilling to fix construction costs, and developers have had little or any power to negotiate prices
for materials or services. Based on interest from
prospective buyers, the property, one of very few in
Moscow completed in 2009, will be profitable even
though it has been delivered after rent and sale levels
have retraced from the peak levels of 2008.
We may retain Geneva House for rental income, or sell
it to an end user, and discussions are underway with
both. We expect to choose between the options open
to us in the first half of 2010. If the property is sold,
it will be a source of significant cash for us in 2010. If it
is to be kept and rented, we would envision a refinancing of the project to replace construction financing
we have supplied, not later than the first half of 2011.
Eastern Property Partners LP
In July 2007, EPH entered into a partnership agreement
with Valartis International Limited as a second limited
partner, and Eastern Property Management Limited as
general partner. The initial ownership stake of Valartis
International was 10 %, while the stake of the general
partner was nominal. The partnership, Eastern Property Partners LP, an exempted limited partnership registered in the Cayman Islands, subsequently acquired
an office building in Moscow and entered into a construction and development project with our joint
venture partner Vincennes Estates Limited. Our initial
capital contribution into the partnership was US$
21.15 million. Throughout 2007, EPH made additional
loans to the partnership and its subsidiaries totaling
US$ 53.68 million. With the proceeds of these loans
the partnership, through its subsidiary Bluestone
Investments Ltd., was able to acquire the entire share
capital of two Russian companies with rights to
two construction projects in the center of Moscow.
Furthermore, part of these loans was designated
as construction financing.

In 2008 we made additional contributions to the
partnership which were not matched by Valartis International, thus diluting their share in the ownership
to under 3 %. As such, management determined that
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership had
transferred to EPH, and the assets of Eastern Property
Partners have been consolidated since 2008.
In 2009 we made additional capital contributions to
the partnership in the amount of US$ 3.37 million
which were not matched by Valartis International. Also
during 2009, within the construction loan, we granted
additionally US$ 0.9 million for construction purposes
to one of the partnership’s subsidiaries that own the
right to develop certain assets in the center of Moscow.
Results of Operations
Year ended 31 December 2009
compared to year ended 31 December 2008
Our net loss amounted to US$ 66.86 million in 2009, compared with a net loss of US$ 72.70 million in 2008. The
factors contributing to our net loss and its variance from
the prior year are set out below.
Gross rental income
Our gross rental income was US$ 16.36 million for 2009,
compared to US$ 19.59 million in 2008. The reduction
in rents is primarily attributable to Petrovsky Fort, where
the short term nature of leases, and predominance
of small businesses, often strongly affected by the economic downturn, among the tenant base, have led to
reduced rents, and an increased vacancy level.
Ground rents paid
In 2009 we paid ground rents of US$ 264 thousand,
compared to US$ 283 thousand in 2008. The difference, which is not material, is attributable to fluctuation in the RUB/US$ exchange rate.
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Service charge income on principal basis
Our service charge income on a principal basis, for the
most part being expenses reimbursed by tenants on
the basis of a contractually fixed amount, rather than
the actual cost of expense items, decreased insignificantly from US$ 2.60 million in 2008 to US$ 2.40
million in 2009.
Service charge expenses on principal basis
Our service charge expenses on a principal basis, meaning costs incurred in relation to the premises rented
under leases with fixed expense payments, decreased to
US$ 2.66 million in 2009 compared to US$ 3.41 million in 2008. Two factors contributed to this decrease:
we have reviewed and optimised our property operating
costs and been able to achieve significant improvements,
and increased vacancy at Petrovsky Fort.
Property operating expenses
Our property operating expenses increased insignificantly from US$ 1.21 million in 2008 to US$ 1.45 million in 2009.
Repair and maintenance costs
Our repair and maintenance costs decreased from
US$ 1.00 million in 2008 to US$ 0.44 million in 2009.
The decrease was primarily due to the measures taken
for cost optimisation at Petrovsky Fort.
Non-income taxes
Our non-income tax expense decreased insignificantly
from US$ 1.23 million in 2008 to US$ 1.03 million in 2009.
Net rental income
Though improvements in a number of cost factors resulted in a smaller decline in Net rental income than
Gross rental income, our Net rental income decreased
from US$ 15.05 million in 2008 to US$ 12.91 million
in 2009.

Performance fees
Pursuant to our Real Estate Management Agreement,
EPML is entitled to a performance fee calculated on the
basis of 15 % of the appreciation of our investments.
Provisions are taken for these fees on each reporting
date, though the fees would only be paid in case of
a cash event at an appreciated asset, and only then to
the extent that particular asset has generated the
fee, and that our per share NAV is higher than at the
last date a performance fee was paid. When assets
which appreciated since acquisition are revalued lower,
provisions are removed. In 2008 we decreased the
provision for performance fees by US$ 4.57 million, and
in 2009 by an additional US$ 3.36 million.
Management fees
Eastern Property Management Ltd. (EPML), and since
31 December 2009 its successor company Valartis
International Ltd., is paid a management fee calculated
as 2 % of our net assets. Management fees decreased
from US$ 10.08 million in 2008 to US$ 7.31 million in
2009 based on our reduced net asset value.
Professional and administration fees
Professional and administration fees, which include legal
advice, audit, appraisals and the cost of other services for the Company and our subsidiaries increased
from US$ 1.53 million in 2008 to US$ 2.88 million
in 2009. The difference is primarily attributable to increase in audit, legal advice and consultancy services.
Salaries and social charges
Our expense for salaries and social remained almost unchanged from US$ 265 thousand in 2008 to US$ 260
thousand in 2009.
Total administrative expenses
Our total administrative expenses in 2009 were US$ 7.09
million compared to US$ 7.30 million in 2008.

Interest income
We finance the development activities of our subsidiary
and joint venture companies via loans. Loans made to
companies owned by Eastern Property Partners LP (EPP)
were not eliminated in consolidation at year-end 2008.
Since that time, however, EPP’s assets are consolidated,
and loans to these companies are eliminated in consolidation. This is the primary reason for the decrease in
our interest income from US$ 12.50 million in 2008 to
US$ 7.82 million in 2009.
Other income
Our other income decreased from US$ 1.24 million in
2008 to almost zero in 2009.
Other operating expenses
Other expenses increased from US$ 531 thousand in
2008 to US$ 1.10 million in 2009. The substantial
increase was primarily due to the write off of bad debts
at Petrovsky Fort and fines and penalties in conjunction with the construction of Geneva House.
Loan impairment charge
Our loans to Mr. Korolev and Konkor are collateralised
by a development project. The appraised value of
the project reduced significantly between the end of
2008 and 2009, and we have impaired the loans
by US$ 6.15 million to correspond with the collateral
value. In 2008 we did not have any similar impairments.
Depreciation
Our depreciation expense decreased from US$ 29
thousand in 2008 to US$ 18 thousand in 2009.
Net gain / loss from foreign currency translation
Our net loss from foreign currency translation in 2008
was US$ 43.65 million compared to a gain of US$ 5.64
million in 2009. During 2009 the ruble exchange rate
against USD changed only slightly whereas in the last
months of 2008 the ruble depreciated significantly
against the USD.

Net other income
In 2008, we recorded a negative US$ 30.47 million for
net other income compared to a positive US$ 6.19
million in 2009. The most significant contributor was
foreign currency translation.
Net loss from fair value adjustment on financial
investments
We recognised a net loss from fair value adjustments
on financial investments of US$ 16.92 million in 2009,
compared to a net loss of US$ 37.01 million in 2008.
The Company has recognised a net loss from fair value
adjustment of its investment in Sarnatus of US$ 13.85
million in 2009 (2008: US$ 22.81 million).
Net loss/gain from fair value adjustment on
investment properties
We recognised a net loss from fair value adjustments
on investment property of US$ 38.20 million in 2009
compared to a gain of US$ 26.60 million in 2008.
During 2009 the investment property valuations
nominated in US$ decreased whereas the exchange rate
of ruble against dollar changed slightly. As for 2008,
though our like for like valuations (Berlin House and
Petrovsky Fort) were significantly lower in US$, the functional currency of the subsidiaries owning the assets
is the RUB and so devaluation of the functional currency resulted in an offsetting gain in RUB terms. In addition, before 2008 the Geneva House project was classified as an Advance Payment, and carried at cost, but
during 2008 Geneva House was reclassified as Investment Property and as of 31 December 2008 was carried at fair value.
Valuation movements
Our net valuation movements for 2009 amounted to
a negative US$ 55.12 million compared to US$ 10.41
million in 2008.
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Development property impairment
In 2009 we have impaired development property for
US$ 0.94 million as the appraised value has fallen below
cost. In 2008 there was no development property
impairment.
Net operating profit before finance cost
Our net operating loss before finance cost was US$ 44.05
million in 2009, compared to US$ 33.13 million in 2008.
Finance costs
Our finance costs increased from US$ 3.62 million in
2008 to US$ 8.65 million in 2009. The increase was
primarily due to the loan received from UniCredit Bank
in January 2009.
Share of associates’ loss
We recognised a loss from our associates of US$ 15.21
million in 2009, compared to US$ 36.30 million in 2008.

Liquidity and Going Concern Considerations
Real estate investment and development is a capital
intensive activity. Sources of capital we have depended
on in the past, most notably capital contributions
from shareholders and new investors, are not available
at present and may not be available for the foreseeable future. Bank debt to finance development has never
been easily accessible in Russia, and is virtually nonexistent today. Debt financing secured by rent generative properties is difficult to secure, costly, and requires
significant lead time. As such, we have re-evaluated
our development plans with the understanding that additional capital may come only with the eventual
recovery of financial and property markets in Russia.

Income tax expense
Our income tax income was US$ 1.06 million in 2009,
representing a tax credit, compared to US$ 0.36
thousand in 2008.

Liquidity
A significant portion of our cash outflows can be classified
as discretionary, insofar as it is possible to refrain from
development activities if sufficient cash is not available at
the relevant time. This does, however, increase our risk
of losing development projects, especially in the case of
projects owned under investment contracts with, in
our case, the city of Moscow, as such contracts generally
have a fixed time period during which a developer has
the right to complete a project before the rights revert to
the City. To date, the city of Moscow has been observant
of the fact that developers are currently constrained by the
lack of available capital, but there can be no assurance
that they will remain so and not observe existing deadlines.
In a worst case, the loss of such projects would result in
the loss of acquisition costs and return of investments on
construction only after a significant delay, if at all.

Net loss for the year
Our net loss for 2009 was US$ 66.86 million compared
to US$ 72.70 million in 2008.

Our operating cash flows from 2004 through 2009 have
not been sufficient to cover the cash requirements of our
investing activities.

In 2009 the Company has recognised a loss from shares
in Vestive and Hypercenter Investment of US$ 5.19
million and US$ 10.02 million respectively (2008 year:
US$ 17.40 million and 18.91 million respectively).
Loss before tax
Our loss before tax was US$ 67.92 million in 2009,
compared to US$ 73.06 million in 2008.

The US$ 40 million loan we drew in January 2009 replenished our cash, and provided liquidity to complete
Geneva House, repurchase shares at a very significant
discount to the value of our underlying assets, and retain
sufficient operating cash for 2009 operating expenses
not covered by net rental income.
Our only significant non-discretionary recurring expense
is the management fee we pay to Valartis International Ltd.
However, Valartis has agreed to accrue management fees
during any period that our cash situation is not sufficient to
make payment without creating other difficulties in our
operations.
During the next 12 months we expect to monetise
Geneva House through leasing and refinancing, or sale,
which will provide ample liquidity to selectively resume our development activities. If the property is not
monetised, we believe our liquidity remains sufficient
to fund our operations for the next 12–18 months, though
we will not be able to independently fund resumption
of development activities.
As such, we believe it is reasonable to operate under the
assumption that even in case of a delayed recovery in
property and capital markets we will continue as a going
concern.
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Property Review

Our property holdings as of 31 December 2009 consisted
of two mixed-use office and retail buildings in Moscow
and St. Petersburg, an office complex in Moscow, a land
plot near St. Petersburg, and a 50 percent stake in a
mixed-use office and retail property in Moscow all of
which are shown on our financial statements as Investment property. We own a 50 percent stake in two
mixed-use properties under development in Moscow,
which are shown as Assets under development. We also
hold 50 percent of a company with development rights
to a number of parking facilities in Moscow, and a 25.9
percent stake in a joint venture to develop and operate
shopping centers in a number of cities in Russia which
are treated as Investments in associates. We own a 10
percent stake in Sarnatus, a company which owns an office building, and a minority stake in a number of
shopping centers and a retail operation, which is treated
as a Financial investment.
Berlin House
Berlin House is one of Moscow’s first investment grade
properties. It was completed in 2002 and we bought
it two years later. The asset is leased to international tenants under long term leases, which have been concluded before rental rates increased rapidly during 2006
and 2007. Consequently, our building was significantly under-rented during this period, but rent levels have

since fallen to roughly the level our tenants are paying.
As a result, our tenants have not requested adjustments
to their rent levels, and unlike many commercial property owners in Russia who signed leases during the period
of much higher rents, we do not believe we are at risk of
a significant reduction in income from the property if our
current tenants would have to be replaced. In spite of
there being almost no rental activity in Moscow throughout 2009, Berlin House’s high standing in the local
marketplace is underscored by our filling 400 square meters of space vacated by a downsizing tenant without any void period. Our new tenant is Apple UK Ltd.
Geneva House
Geneva House is the first project to be brought from
groundbreaking to commissioning by our management
team. Located adjacent to Berlin House, we believe
the location, design, and quality of the property places it
solidly among the most desirable addresses and assets
in Moscow. The size of Geneva House, at approximately
17,000 square meters, makes it equally attractive for
owner occupancy and as an investment property. We currently have opportunities to either sell the asset to an
end-user or lease the premises to blue chip tenants and
hold it for rental income. A decision will be made in
the coming months.

Investment Properties

Location, Address
Berlin House, 5 Petrovka Street, Moscow
Petrovsky Fort, 4 Finlandsky Prospect, St. Petersburg
Magistral’naya Building 1, 1st Magistralnaya Street 11/2, Moscow
Magistral’naya Building 2, 1st Magistralnaya Street 11/2, Moscow
*	mixed-use office
**	percentage of net rentable area

Building
Area
m²

Office
Area
(NLA m²)

Retail
Area
(NLA m²)

Total
Rentable Area
m²

12,988.60
47,609.60
1,627.80
1,594.20

5,557.40
15,302.10
913.3*
687.2*

1,876.95
5,796.70
n/a
n/a

7,434.35
21,098.80
913.30
553.20

Petrovsky Fort
Petrovsky Fort is in St. Petersburg, where market practices, the standard of premises available, and the business
environment differ from Moscow. Petrovsky Fort
operates as a business center, offering varying, and variable sized offices to, in most cases, small businesses
or representative offices. These businesses generally do
their business in local currency, so ruble devaluation
of over 50 % against the US dollar between August 2008
and February 2009, made dollar-based rents a disproportionate burden on their businesses. As a result,
we negotiated lower rents with many tenants, while
many others left our building or ceased to exist altogether. As a result of lower rents, increased vacancies and a higher capitalisation rate being used to value
Petrovsky Fort the appraised value of the property
has fallen by 23 %. Both the Loan to Value and Debt Service Coverage Ratio covenants of our loan from UniCredit Bank were ultimately breached when calculations
were submitted in January 2010. An agreement was
reached with the bank in April 2010 under which we will
invest in the improvement of the property and accept
certain payment obligations as owner. In return, amortisation payments were reduced for 2010, the DSCR
breach was waived, and the LTV limit was temporarily
moved upward. Rental activity in the first months
of 2010 showed a marked improvement over all of 2009,

Parking
Spaces

Vacancy
Rate
%**

Year of
Construction

Year of
Renovation

Purchase
Date

65
154
28
112

–
32 %
–
–

2002
2003
1966
1994

n/a
n/a
2003 – 2007
2003 – 2007

July 2004
Jun 2006
Oct 2007
Oct 2007

giving hope that we are seeing the first signs of recovery in the St. Petersburg market.
Arbat Multi-use properties
In 2007 the Group acquired 50 % of a joint venture
company with two subsidiaries owning the rights to two
construction and development projects on Moscow’s
Arbat Street, the principal pedestrian street in the historical center of the city. The projects represent the construction of two multi-use buildings of approximately
25,000 and 10,000 square meters. Each contains retail premises and residential apartments with underground parking. Due to their high profile location,
and the design of the projects, which will feature large
well-lit living areas and sizeable terraces, the apartment premises in the buildings will be of elite standing.
Rather than enter the market in late 2009 or early
2010, as was possible, we have opted to slow the pace
of development at one site, where construction has
been underway for over a year, and not begin construction at the second site until some sign of recovery in
the high-end Moscow housing market is seen.
Scandinavia Land Site
In 2008, we completed the acquisition of a 103 hectare
site approximately 22 kilometers from St. Petersburg.
The site borders the Sestra River and is accessed via the

Owning
Entity

Connecta GmbH & CoKG
Romsay Properties Limited via OOO Petrovsky Fort
EPP via Housefar Limited
EPP via Housefar Limited
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Ownership
Percentage

100 %
100 %
97.3 %
97.3 %

main highway from St. Petersburg to Finland, hence
combines beautiful natural surroundings and easy access
for St. Petersburg commuters. Since the local housing
market is in a state of flux, and financing for homebuyers is virtually non-existent, we are not actively developing the land at this point and will hold it for appreciation until we have determined its future use.
Magistral’naya
Magistral’naya is an operational Class B-office building
complex of three office buildings with a total combined
area of 3,200 square meters and leasehold rights in
three conjoined land plots with a total combined area of
approximately 8,000 square meters. The property is
located at the intersection of Zvenigorodskoye Shosse
and Moscow’s third ring road, a location which offers
easy access to Moscow City, the Central Business District, and the western suburbs of Moscow. While
purchased with re-development in mind, the building
is currently a rental property. Our tenant in the
property, a construction company working primarily
for the Russian government, has been unable to
pay rent and we terminated the lease in September
2009. The tenant has not yet vacated and we are
pursuing back rents and enforcement of our notice
to vacate through the Russian courts. All decisions
to date have been in our favor.
Inkonika
In early 2008 we purchased 50 % of Moscow’s only dedicated developer of parking facilities. Inkonika has been
granted development rights to over 5000 parking spaces
in seven well-situated Moscow locations. Completion
of the first project, at Turgenevskaya Square in central
Moscow, has been slowed by both construction issues,
such as underground water levels in excess of what was
predicted by geologists, and slowing of construction
due to financial constraints of the partners. It is expected
that the Turgenevskaya underground parking facility
will open in the second half of 2010. The second project,
at Khokhlovskaya square, will require approximately

Development Properties

Location, Address
Geneva House, 7 Petrovka Street, Moscow
Class A Office / Retail Development

Arbat Mixed use development, Building I, Moscow
Mixed use development, Residential and Retail

Arbat Mixed use development, Building II, Moscow
Mixed use development, Residential and Retail

Inkonika, Turgenevskaya Parking, Moscow
Parking Project, Moscow

Inkonika, Khokhlovskaya Ploshad, Moscow
Parking Project, Moscow

Inkonika, Remaining Projects
Several land plots zoned for parking projects in Moscow

Scandinavia, Slavino, St. Petersburg
Land site close to St. Petersburg zoned for residential development

Projected
Completion

Purchase
Date

Holding
Company

Ownership
Percentage

Completed
Sept. 2009

July 2005

EPH Real Estate
Limited

50 %

In construction since October 2005
The project, located in the old town of Moscow, will include retail, theatre,
and luxury apartment space, consists of approx. 25,000 sqm Gross Build
Area on a site area of 3,700 sqm.

2011

July 2007

Bluestone
Investments Ltd.

48.60 %

In planning
The second project, located near the first, consists of approx. 10,000 sqm
of GBA on a site area of 3,200 sqm and will also consist of retail space for
lease, and luxury apartments for sale. One structure formerly on the site has
been removed, while another is yet to be demolished, making way for site
preparation and start of construction.

open

Jul 2007/
Dec 2007

Bluestone
Investments Ltd.

48.60 %

In construction since October 2005
Located at Turgenevskaya Square in the Northeastern Area of the CBD. The
site has an approximate area of 2,100 sqm. The building will comprise 6 underground floors, all of them for car parking. The entrance will be accessed
on street level with vertical communication between floors being assured
by ramps. The building will have a gross build area of 10,132 sqm that will
comprise c. 300 parking spaces.

2010

Mar 2008

Vestive Limited

50 %

In construction since October 2006
Located at Khokhlovskaya Square on the Boulevard Ring in the Northeastern area of the CBD. The site has an approximate area of 3,000 sqm. The
building will comprise 5 underground floors. The planned bulding will have
a total build area of 12,100 sqm that will comprise approx. 11,300 sqm for
approx. 325 parking spaces. The city will receive the additional 800 sqm for
a Museum.

2012

Mar 2008

Vestive Limited

50 %

In planning
Inkonika is holding rights to several land plots in strategically convenient
areas zoned for parking projects. The total land area, excluding the projects
above, comprises approximately 40,000, on which it is planned to build
approx. 4,700 parking spaces. The projects are still in planning and permissions stage.

open

Mar 2008

Vestive Limited

50 %

Land held for undetermined use
Eastern Property Partners LP is the indirect owner of 103 hectares of land
located 22 Kms from St. Petersburg, near the “Scandinavia” highway which
connects St. Petersburg and Helsinki, Finland. The land borders the Sestra
River, and is already correctly zoned for development as, for example, a
large residential development.

open

Aug 2007/
Jan 2008

Idelisa Limited

97.3 %

State of Project

In construction since June 2006
Geneva House is a Class A office / retail located approximately 600 meters
from the Kremlin. The property, completed and registered in 2009, has 8
above-ground floors (two floors which may be retail space and six floors
which may be office space) and four underground levels, three of which are
to be occupied by a parking lot with c. 140 parking spaces.
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18 months to complete when construction has been
restarted, and may be configured to include retail
premises. To the extent that debt or equity financing is
available, Khokhlovskaya may be restarted yet in 2010.

Investment Property – Valuation Data Appraised
Values 2009
Appraised
Value
in US$

Carrying
Value
in US$

Valuation
movement in
the year
in US$

71,147,000
57,182,000
7,544,000

71,147,000
57,182,000
7,544,000

–11,326,000
–17,128,000
–10,256,000

9.36
7.53
141

12.03
13.64
N/A

1,894,055
3,496,328
1,217,700

Segment 1 – Rental Properties
Geneva House 2
Old Town I 3
Old Town II 3
Inkonika 3
Scandinavia 3

135,873,000 135,873,000
113,486,000 113,486,000
123,941,000
90,875,000
25,769,000
25,769,000
85,084,000
85,084,000
45,369,000
45,369,000

1,596,000
–21,821,000
–7,731,000
–2,948,000
3,955,000

N / A2
N/A
N/A
N/A
N / A5

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Segment 2 – Development Projects
Total Portfolio

393,649,000 360,583,000
529,522,000 496,456,000

Segment
Berlin House 1
Petrovsky Fort 1
Magistral’naya 1

1	Income Approach
2	Sales Comps valuation
3	Residual Value

Net initial
Equivalent or
yield Reversionary yield
in %
in %

Reversionary
potential
in US$
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Berlin House, Moscow

Directors and Management

Board of Directors

Gustav Stenbolt,
Executive Director
(since March 2003)

Mr. Stenbolt is the CEO of Valartis Group and Valartis Bank AG, Zurich, Chairman
of the Board of Directors of Valartis Asset Management S.A. and Valartis
Wealth Management S.A., Geneva, ENR Russia Invest S.A., Geneva, MCG Holding
AG, Baar, and Valartis Bank (Liechtenstein) AG. He is Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Valartis Bank (Austria) AG, Vienna, and Valartis Europe AG, Vienna.
Mr. Stenbolt is also a member of the Board of Directors of Anglo Chinese
Group, Hong Kong. He is a graduate in economics from Fribourg University and
founded MCT Group in 1996. Mr. Stenbolt also served on the Management
Committee of EPH from its founding until 2007.

Mr. de Pahlen is Chairman of Geneva-based Edifin Services SA. He was formerly
Vice President for international activities at Fiat Group, and Chairman of
OOO Fiat Russia from 2001 to 2005 as well as board member for a number of
other Fiat Group companies. Mr de Pahlen also serves on the board of directors at International Industrial Bank (Russia). He is a graduate of the Polytechnical Institute of Zurich.
Serge de Pahlen,
Non-Executive Director
(since April 2004)

Philipp LeibundGut,
Executive Director
(since March 2003)

Mr. LeibundGut is a partner at MCG, the majority shareholder of Valartis Group
AG. He was instrumental in the founding of EPH, and also served as a member
of the Management Committee from 2003 until 2006. Before joining MCG,
Mr. LeibundGut was in charge of the Russian investment activities of Hansa AG,
and prior to that was with Credit Suisse. He is a graduate of the Technical
College of Basle-Land and Basle-Stadt, and a graduate in business economics
from the Basle University of Applied Sciences (FHBB). Mr. LeibundGut is a
member of the Boards of Directors of Valartis Group AG, Valartis Asset Management S.A., and Valartis Bank (Liechtenstein) AG. He is also a member of the
Supervisory Board of Valartis Bank (Austria) AG, Vienna.
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Kay Reddy,
Non-Executive Director
(since 1999)

Ms. Reddy is Director of the Blenheim Group of Trust, Insurance and Fund
Management Companies in the BVI. She has resided in the British Virgin Islands
since 1987, where she previously held the position of Managing Director
of Barclays Private Bank and Trust (BVI) Limited and, prior to that worked with
Deloitte & Touche and Ansbacher (BVI) Limited. She holds a degree in mathematics, operations research, statistics and economics from Warwick University,
Coventry, UK. Mrs. Reddy is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, a member of the Society of Trust & Estate Practitioners and a member of the Institute of Directors.

Management Committee
Terry Olin is responsible for corporate operations and corporate finance at EPH.
He has sixteen years of Russian investment experience, of which eight years were
spent living and working in Moscow. Mr. Olin is a Managing Director at Valartis
Asset Management SA. Prior to joining the Valartis Group in 2002, he was a partner at Brunswick Emerging Markets in Stockholm, Sweden, responsible for
emerging European markets, and before joining Brunswick was a director at Russian investment bank Troika Dialog in Moscow. He is also a member of the
Management Board of the European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA).
Terry Olin
Alexander Nikolaev is responsible for execution of the Company’s projects
and acquisitions, and management of the Moscow-based project management
and property operations team. Mr. Nikolaev is Managing Director of Valartis
Group’s Russia and CIS operations. After graduating from Moscow State University for Foreign Affairs he was Head of Russian and CIS operations for Smith
Management LLC, a U.S. private investment corporation. He has over fourteen
years of experience in real estate development, and managing investments
in private and public equity.
Alexander Nikolaev
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Yulia Makhinova is responsible for accounting, financial review, and financial
reporting for the Company’s subsidiaries. Ms. Makhinova is Chief Financial Officer
in the Moscow office of Valartis Group. She began her career as a tax adviser
with PricewaterhouseCoopers in Moscow. Prior to joining Valartis Group she was
Chief Accountant at the Moscow office of Skanska East Europe. Ms. Makhinova
is a graduate of the Russian State Financial Academy, and a Chartered Public
Accountant.
Yulia Makhinova
Medina Dietz is responsible for property operations, project commercialization
and tenant relations. She has over fourteen years of construction and real estate
management experience in Russia. Prior to joining Valartis Group in 2004,
Ms. Dietz was a Moscow-based member of the management team of West GkA,
a division of WestLB focused on commercial real estate. Before joining West
GkA, she was with Austrian construction com¬pany Wohnreform, and prior to
that with Maculan International.
Medina Dietz
Andrey Zarechensky is responsible for project development management and
technical management of EPH’s development activities and properties. Prior
to joining the Company in 2005, Mr. Zarechensky accumulated more than twenty
three years of experience in his field, having worked most recently in a senior
role at British Petroleum.

Andrey Zarechensky
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Group Structure
Group structure
Eastern Property Holdings (“EPH”) is a real estate
holding company. Its investments are held either directly
or through subsidiaries. Management of the Company
is provided by Valartis International Limited (“Valartis Intl”),
a wholly owned subsidiary of Valartis Group AG. Prior
to 31 December 2009, management was provided by
Eastern Property Management Ltd (“EPML”), also a
wholly owned Valartis Group subsidiary. The two Valartis
Group subsidiaries were merged in 2009, and Valartis
Intl, as the surviving company, became party to the Real
Estate Management Agreement with EPH.
The Company’s object is detailed in Note 1, “Incorporation and Activity” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Domicile

Blenheim Trust (BVI) Limited,
R.G. Hodge Plaza,
Wickhams Cay 1
P.O. Box 3483,
Road Town, Tortola,
British Virgin Islands

Swiss security number 1673866
ISIN number
VGG290991014
Market capitalisation	US$ 134.27 million as of
31 December 2009
The subsidiaries of the Company are not listed and do
not hold any shares in EPH.
Significant shareholders
On 31 December 2009, Valartis Group AG owned 773,798
shares of EPH, Wholly owned Valartis Group subsidiaries Valartis International Limited and Valartis Bank AG
held 339,703 shares and 16,546 shares, respectively.
ENR Group, which is majority owned by Valartis Group
owned 493,000 shares. MCT Global Opportunities
Fund, which is managed by Valartis International Limited,
held 100,000 shares. Edifin Services SA owned 416,000
shares. The Company has no knowledge of other significant shareholdings, and believes that the remaining
shares outstanding are widely spread between institutional and private investors. EPH is not domiciled in
Switzerland, so shareholders are not subject to the disclosure obligations of article 20 of SESTA, thus it is
possible that other significant holdings exist but the
Company has not been notified.
Cross-shareholdings
The company is not aware of any cross-shareholdings.

Eastern Property Holdings Limited (British Virgin Islands)
100 %

99.85 %

10 %

100 %

Redhill Investment
Limited (Cyprus)

Connecta GmbH & Co.
KG (Germany)

Sarnatus Trading
Limited (Cyprus)

Geneva House L.P.
(Cayman Islands)

100 %

40 %

50 %

Hypercenter
ABK (Russia)

Anafi Enterprises
Limited (Cyprus)

EPH Real Estate
Limited (Cyprus)

25.9 %
Hypercenter
Investment SA
(Luxembourg)

Capital Structure
Capital
As of 31 December 2009, the Company’s share capital
consists of 5,338,132 registered shares with one vote
per share and no par value. The shareholder register is
maintained and administered by SIX SAG Ltd. Baslerstrasse 90, CH-4601 Olten. Note 18, “Shareholders’ Equity” to the Company’s consolidated financial statements contains a detailed description of the Company’s
capital structure including a summary of transactions
in treasury shares during the year.
Authorised and conditional capital
A change in the Company’s authorised capital must be
approved by a resolution passed by the general meeting
of members. A capital increase by the exercise of options or conversion of rights must also be covered by the
authorised capital as the Company’s articles do not
foresee a conditional capital. The status of the authorised
capital is detailed in Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Changes in capital
Changes in capital since 1 January 2008 are summarised
in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.
Shares and participation certificates
Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
contains a detailed description of the Company’s
shares. No participation certificates have been issued.
Profit sharing certificates
The Company has not issued any profit sharing certificates.
Limitations on transferability and
nominee registration
In order to exercise their voting rights, shareholders
must register their shareholdings in the Company’s
shareholder register. The Company’s Articles of Association do not foresee any restrictions regarding the
registration of shareholders in the register.
Convertible bonds and warrants / options
The Company has no outstanding warrants or options.

97.25 %
Eastern Property
Partners L.P.
(Cayman Islands)

100 %
Whiterock
Investments Limited
(Cyprus)

100 %

100 %

50 %

100 %

100 %

50 %

Alliance Service LLC
(Russia)

Bluestone Investments
Limited (Cyprus)

Idelisa Limited
(Cyprus)

Housefar Limited
(Cyprus)

Vestive Limited
(Cyprus)

99.9 %

100 %

Romsay Properties
Limited (Cyprus)

Stainfield Limited
(Cyprus)

100 %
Petrovsky Fort LLC
(Russia)

Silverlake Limited
(Cyprus)
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100 %
Eastern Property
Partners II L.P.
(Cayman Islands)

Board of Directors
Members of the Board of Directors
As of 31 December 2008, the Board of Directors is
composed of the following members:
Serge de Pahlen, born 1944, French
Non-Executive Member (since April 2004)
Mr. de Pahlen is Chairman of Geneva-based Edifin
Services SA. He was formerly Vice President for international activities at Fiat Group, and Chairman of OOO
Fiat Russia from 2001 to 2005 as well as board member
for a number of other Fiat Group companies. Mr. de
Pahlen also serves on the board of directors at International Industrial Bank (Russia). He is a graduate of
the Polytechnical Institute of Zurich.
Philipp LeibundGut, born 1973, Swiss
Executive Member (since March 2003)
Mr. LeibundGut is a partner at MCG, the majority shareholder of Valartis Group AG. He was instrumental in
the founding of EPH, and also served as a member of
the Management Committee from 2003 until 2006.
Before joining MCG, Mr. LeibundGut was in charge of
the Russian investment activities of Hansa AG, and
prior to that was with Credit Suisse. He is a graduate
of the Technical College of Basle-Land and BasleStadt, and a graduate in business economics from
the Basle University of Applied Sciences (FHBB).
Mr. LeibundGut is a member of the Boards of Directors
of Valartis Group AG, Valartis Asset Management
S.A., and Valartis Bank (Liechtenstein) AG. He is also a
member of the Supervisory Board of Valartis Bank
(Austria) AG, Vienna.

Kay Reddy, born 1961, British
Non-Executive Member (since 1999)
Ms. Reddy is Director of the Blenheim Group of Trust,
Insurance and Fund Management Companies in the BVI.
She has resided in the British Virgin Islands since
1987, where she previously held the position of Managing Director of Barclays Private Bank and Trust (BVI)
Limited, and prior to that worked with Deloitte & Touche
and Ansbacher (BVI) Limited. She holds a degree in
mathematics, operations research, statistics and economics from Warwick University, Coventry, UK. Mrs. Reddy
is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, a member of the Society of Trust &
Estate Practitioners and a member of the Institute of
Directors.
Gustav Stenbolt, born 1957, Norwegian
Executive Member (since March 2003)
Mr. Stenbolt is the CEO of Valartis Group and Valartis
Bank AG, Zurich, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Valartis Asset Management S.A. and Valartis
Wealth Management S.A., Geneva, ENR Russia
Invest S.A., Geneva, MCG Holding AG, Baar, and Valartis
Bank (Liechtenstein) AG. He is Chairman of the
Supervisory Board of Valartis Bank (Austria) AG, Vienna,
and Valartis Europe AG, Vienna. Mr. Stenbolt is
also a member of the Board of Directors of Anglo
Chinese Group, Hong Kong. He is a graduate in
economics from Fribourg University and founded MCT
Group in 1996. Mr. Stenbolt also served on the
Management Committee of EPH from its founding
until 2007.

Other activities and functions
See section “Board of Directors”
Cross involvement
See section “Board of Directors” regarding Gustav
Stenbolt and Philipp LeibundGut
Election and term of office
The Directors are elected by the general meeting of
shareholders for such terms as the shareholders
meeting may determine. Currently, all Directors have
been elected for an undetermined period. The year
of first election is detailed in the “Board of Directors”
section.
Internal organisational structure
Board meetings take place as often as business requires at such place as the directors shall decide. Such
meetings may take place by conference call. Their
duration depends on the list of items on the agenda.
As the Company’s investment guidelines foresee that all
investments above US$ 10 million must be approved
by the Board of Directors, all significant investment proposals are discussed on the Board level.
As of 31 December 2009, the Board of Directors has not
formed any committees.
At the beginning of each meeting, a Chairman is elected by the members. According to art.11.8 of the Company’s Articles of Association, questions arising at any
meeting shall be decided by a majority of votes. In case
of any equality of votes, the Chairman will have a
second or casting vote.
Definitions of areas of responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for managing the
business affairs of the Company in accordance with
the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association.
The day to day management, however, has been del-

egated to Valartis International Ltd., which appoints and
provides the Company’s Management Committee. The
Management Committee is responsible for the management of the Company’s business activities, except for
the duties incumbent upon the Board of Directors. The
Management Committee decides in particular on the
business development and implementation of the Company’s strategy and its results in accordance with the
Investment Guidelines of the Company.
The main function of the Board of Directors remains the
supervision of the Company’s management and investments. Furthermore, the Board of Directors has ultimate
responsibility for the issue of the necessary directives
and regulations and approval of the investment strategy
as laid down in the Investment Guidelines. The Board
of Directors also approves all investment decisions above
US$ 10 million.
Information and control instruments
The Management Committee meets as often as the
business of the Company requires and may pass resolutions only with the consent of all the members attending the meeting. The meetings may also be attended by
members of the Board of Directors, or other relevant
parties. The Management Committee informs the Board
of Directors on a regular basis of the Company’s assets
and liabilities, new investment targets and development
of investments and operations.
Management Committee
Members of the Management Committee
As of 31 December 2009, the Company’s Management
Committee is composed as follows:
Terry Olin
Terry Olin is responsible for corporate operations and
corporate finance at EPH. He has sixteen years of
Russian investment experience, of which eight years
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were spent living and working in Moscow. Mr. Olin is
a Managing Director at Valartis Asset Management SA.
Prior to joining the Valartis Group in 2002, he was a
partner at Brunswick Emerging Markets in Stockholm,
Sweden, responsible for emerging European markets, and before joining Brunswick was a director at
Russian investment bank Troika Dialog in Moscow.
He is a member of the Management Board of the European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA).
Alexander Nikolaev
Alexander Nikolaev is responsible for execution of the
company’s projects and acquisitions, and management of
the Russia-based project management and property
operations team. Mr. Nikolaev is Managing Director of
Valartis Group’s Russia and CIS operations. After
graduating from Moscow State University for Foreign
Affairs he was Head of Russian and CIS operations
for Smith Management LLC, a U.S. private investment
corporation. He has over fourteen years of experience in real estate development, and managing investments in private and public equity.
Yulia Makhinova
Yulia Makhinova is responsible for accounting and
financial review, and financial reporting for the Company’s subsidiaries. Ms. Makhinova is Chief Financial
Officer in the Moscow office of Valartis Group. She began her career as a tax adviser with Pricewaterhouse
Coopers in Moscow. Prior to joining Valartis Group she
was Chief Accountant at the Moscow office of
Skanska East Europe. Ms. Makhinova is a graduate
of the Russian State Financial Academy, and a
Chartered Public Accountant.
Andrey Zarechensky
Andrey Zarechensky is responsible for project management and technical management of EPH’s development activities and properties. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Zarechensky accumulated more than 20
years of experience in his field, having worked most
recently in a senior role at British Petroleum.

Medina Dietz
Medina Dietz is responsible for property operations, commercialisation and tenant relations. She has over
fourteen years of construction and real estate management experience in Russia. Prior to joining Valartis
Group in 2004, Ms. Dietz was a Moscow-based member
of the management team of West GkA, a division
of WestLB focused on commercial real estate. Before
joining West GkA, she was with Austrian construction company Wohnreform, and prior to that with
Maculan International.
Other activities and vested interest
See section “Management Committee”
Management contracts
Pursuant to the Real Estate Management Agreement
entered into on 15 September 2003, the Company appointed Eastern Property Management Limited
(“EPML”) as discretionary manager of all activities of
the Company. Effective on 31 December 2009,
EPML merged with Valartis International Ltd. (“Valartis
Intl”), which, as successor company, became party
to the Real Estate Management Agreement. Both EPML
and Valartis Intl are wholly owned Valartis Group AG
subsidiaries.
On a day-to-day basis, Valartis Intl manages the Company’s real estate business, in particular the management and supervision of the Company’s properties, development projects, and other assets. Valartis Intl
also manages all financing activities, the search for and
identification of new investments, and the Company’s
operations and reporting.
The Real Estate Management Agreement has been concluded for an indefinite period of time. It may be
terminated by thirty days’ written notice prior to the
end of any calendar quarter. In the event of its termination by the Company, other than on the grounds
of gross negligence or willful misconduct, Valartis Intl
will be entitled to material compensation of an amount

equal to three times the total fees paid to Valartis Intl,
or EPML, for the preceding business year.
Under the terms of the Real Estate Management Agreement, Valartis Intl is entitled to a Management Fee of
2 % of the Company’s adjusted Net Asset Value, payable
quarterly in arrears. The adjustment to the Net Asset
Value relates to an addition of the nominal amount of
all outstanding debt convertible into shares of the
Company, if any. The Management Fee includes the remuneration for the Management Committee.
Costs not included in the Management Fee are costs of
third parties, out-of-pocket expenses incurred by
Valartis Intl in carrying out the investigative and due
diligence analysis required in pursuing likely investment opportunities, in negotiating, signing and closing
investment contracts, and in monitoring existing
investments and costs relating to the general administration of the Company, which is provided by the
company secretary and administrator.
Valartis Intl, as successor to EPML, is entitled to receive a Performance Fee equal to 15 % of the value appreciation of the Company’s properties and property developments based on the valuation underlying the
audited annual financial statements of the Company
in accordance with IFRS; provided that the value of an
appreciated asset exceeds its original level, and the
per share Net Asset Value of the company is not lower
than it was when the last performance fee was paid
(high water mark).
The Performance Fee is payable only if the increased
value of an asset has been realised (in whole or in part)
through a sale, partial sale, refinancing or a similar
transaction, and then only the Performance Fee generated by the sold or refinanced asset itself will be
paid. Until such realisation, any accruals of the Performance Fee will be reflected in the Company’s Balance sheet as a Provision for long term liabilities and
charges. The Company’s auditors will verify the cal-

culations of the Management Fee and of the Performance Fee in the course of their audit of the Company’s consolidated annual financial statements.
On 1 October 2007, Petrovsky Fort LLC, which owns
Petrovsky Fort in St. Petersburg, entered into a Property
Management Agreement with the St. Petersburg branch
of Valartis International Limited. On 1 November 2007,
Connecta GmbH & Co. KG, which owns Berlin House
in Moscow, entered into a similar agreement with the Moscow branch of Valartis International Limited. Under
these contracts, Valartis International provides each company with property management services. The fees
payable under these contracts consist of both fixed and
variable charges, but any amounts paid under these contracts which exceed the actual costs incurred by Valartis
International to provide the required services are applied to the Management Fees charged by Valartis Intl.
On 1 May 2008, Eastern Property Partners LP, Eastern
Property Partners II LP, and Geneva House LP entered
into Advisory Agreements with Valartis Asset Management SA, under which each partnership paid annual
advisory fees equaling 2 % of total assets. Any amounts
paid to Valartis Asset Management under these agreements were subtracted from the Management Fees be
paid to EPML The Advisory Agreements between the
partnerships and Valartis Asset Management were cancelled on 31 December 2009.
Starting 1 January 2010, Valartis Asset Management
concluded a Real Estate Advisory Agreement with EPH
under which the Company is invoiced based on the
basis of time spent. Fees charged under this contract are
subtracted from Management Fees to be charged by
Valartis Intl.
Compensations, Shareholdings and Loans
Content and method of compensation
All directors are remunerated by means of a fixed
compensation, payable once a year. There are no
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share-ownership programmes or stock option plans
in place. Furthermore, it is the Company’s policy
not to pay remuneration to directors which are also
officers of Valartis Group companies.
Compensations for acting members
of governing bodies
During the year ended 31 December 2009, US$ 10,760
was paid to former Board member Jan Eckert as
directors’ fees for the 2008 calendar year. Mr. Eckert
resigned from the Board of Directors in 2008.
The Company’s management is remunerated by
Valartis Group. For the year 2009, a total amount of
US$ 7.35 million was paid or payable to Valartis
Group for management or advisory services (see also
Note 20 “Real Estate Manager” to the Consolidated
Financial Statements).
There were no severance payments made to persons
who discontinued their functions during the year.
Share allotment in the year under review
The Company did not allot any shares in the year under
review.
Share ownership
The members of the Company’s Board of Directors,
the members of the Company’s Management Committee and parties closely linked to such persons held
2,025,001 shares in the Company as of 31 December
2009. Parties closely linked to Gustav Stenbolt,
Member of the Board of Directors, held 1,606,501
shares in the Company. Parties closely linked to
Serge de Pahlen, Member of the Board of Directors,
held 416,000 shares in the Company. Terry Olin,
Member of the Management Committee, held 2,500
shares in the Company.
Options
The members of the Company’s Board of Directors, the
members of the Company’s Management Committee

and parties closely linked to such persons did not hold
any options on shares of the Company as of 31 December 2009.
Additional fees and remunerations
No additional fees and remunerations were paid to
members of the Board of Directors during the year
under review.
Loans to members of governing bodies
The Company did not grant any loans to members of
the Board of Directors.
Highest total compensation
The highest total compensation paid to a member
of the Board of Directors for serving in 2009 was US$
10,760. as directors fee for 2008.
Shareholders’ Participation
Voting rights
Each fully paid-up registered share carries one vote at
shareholders’ meetings. The shareholder register is
maintained and administered by SIX SAG Ltd. Baslerstrasse 90, CH-4601 Olten. According to article 4.4
of the Memorandum and Articles of Association, treasury shares do not confer the right to vote. In order
to exercise their voting right, shareholders must be registered into the shareholder register.
Shareholders may either represent their shares in
person or have them represented by another shareholder. Institutional investors may have their shares represented by the proxy of their choice.
Statutory quorums
A resolution of the General Meeting of Members
(shareholders’ meeting) approved by at least two thirds
of the votes of the holders of the Ordinary Shares
that were present at the meeting and entitled to vote
and were voted and did not abstain is required for:

1. A change of the purpose of the Company
2. The dissolution of the Company followed by liquidation
Convocation of shareholders’ meetings
The Company is required to hold an annual general
shareholders’ meeting in London, UK. The convening of
the general meeting of shareholders shall take place
by giving notice at least 20 days prior to the day of the
meeting, and specifying the place, the day and the
hour of the meeting. The convening notice shall state
the agenda as well as the shareholders’ proposals.
Twenty days notice shall be given to the shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on the date the notice is given.
Extraordinary shareholders’ meetings may be called
by any director of the Company as well as upon written
request of members holding more than 10 % of the
votes of the outstanding Ordinary Shares and shall also
be held in London, UK.
Agenda
Shareholders holding more than 10 % of the votes of the
outstanding shares in the Company may request in
writing that additional items are added to the proposed
agenda.
Inscriptions into the share register
The deadline for the inscription of registered shares into
the shareholders register in view of their participation
in the general meeting of shareholders is 20 days prior
to the day of the meeting.
Change of Control and Defense Measures
Duty to make an offer
The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association do not provide for rules on takeover. As a foreign
entity, the Company is not subject to SESTA rules.

Clauses on change of control
The Company has entered into agreements which
trigger financial consequences in the case of a change
of control.
Auditors
Duration of the mandate and term of office
PricewaterhouseCoopers SA has been the statutory
auditor of the Company since the year 2004.
Auditing fees
For the financial year 2009, a total of US$ 643,616
was paid to the Company’s auditor, which included audit
of previous years for certain subsidiaries.
Supervisory and control instruments
The auditors are supervised by the Company’s Board
of Directors, and delegates of the Board of Directors are
in contact with the auditors on an ongoing basis.
Information Policy
Financial statements can be requested in writing free of
charge from the following address:
Eastern Property Holdings Limited
Investor Relations
c / o Valartis Asset Management
2–4 Place du Molard
1204 Geneva, Switzerland
Phone: +41 22 716 10 00
Fax: +41 22 716 10 01
Furthermore, recent financial statements, press releases
and the Investment Guidelines are available on the
Company’s website www.easternpropertyholdings.com.
Audited reports are published on an annual basis per
31 December. In addition, the Company publishes an
unaudited half year report.
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Geneva House, Moscow

Report from the Principal External Valuers

Report from the Principal External Valuers
Knight Frank ZAO has been instructed to provide a
valuation of the investment properties Berlin House and
Petrovsky Fort as at 31 December 2009 for auditing
purposes.
Our valuation has been carried out in accordance with
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors Valuation
Standards (6th Edition) (“The Red Book”).
The basis of valuation is the definition of the Market
Value as agreed and established in the Red Book.
The Red Book definition of Market Value is: “the estimated amount for which a property should exchange on
the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a
willing seller in an arm’s-length transaction after proper
marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion.”
No allowance is made in our valuations for expenses
of realisation or for taxation which may arise in the
event of a disposal and our valuations are expressed as
exclusive of any VAT that may become chargeable.
Our valuation will take into account the judgment of the
legal situation of ownership including any rights and
restrictions on a property which are likely to be taken
by prospective purchasers of the property. We assume, unless specifically informed and stated otherwise,
that the property has good and marketable title and
that all documentation is satisfactorily drawn and that
there are no unusual outgoings, planning proposals,
onerous restrictions or local authority intentions which
affect the property, nor any material litigation pending.
We have read the tenancy schedules provided to us,
as well as the certificate land lease agreements, BTI technical specifications, and BTI floor plans. We rely upon
the information provided to us by the owner of a property as to details of tenure and tenancies and other
relevant matters. We assume that this information is
complete and correct.

Our valuations assume that a property was constructed,
and is/will be occupied or used in accordance with
the appropriate consents and that there are no outstanding statutory notices. We assume that the premises
will comply with all relevant statutory requirements including fire and building regulations.
Building, structural and ground condition surveys fall
outside the normal remit of a valuation. Therefore,
we are unable to report that a property is free of any
structural fault, rot, infestation or defects of any
other nature, including inherent weaknesses due to the
use of deleterious materials in construction. We assume there to be no unidentified adverse ground or soil
conditions and that the load bearing qualities of the
site of a property are sufficient to support the buildings
constructed or to be constructed thereon.
We assume that a property is, in all respects, insured
against all usual risks including terrorism, flooding and
rising water table at normal and commercially acceptable premiums.
We do not carry out detailed investigations as to
the financial standing of the tenants, except where specifically instructed, and assume, unless informed
otherwise, that in all cases there are no significant arrears of payment and that the tenants are capable
of meeting their obligations under the terms of leases
and agreements.
Having regard to the foregoing, we are of the opinion
that the aggregate of the market values of Berlin House
and Petrovsky Fort as at 31 December 2009, subject
to and with the benefit of the tenancies then subsisting
(where applicable), was: US$ 128,329,000 (One Hundred and Twenty Eight Million, Three Hundred and Twenty
Nine Thousand US Dollars)
We are of the opinion that the aggregate of the market
values of the shopping centers belonging to Hypercenter
Investment S.A. and Anafi Enterprises Ltd., companies
in which our client, Eastern Property Holdings holds direct
or indirect stakes, as at 31 December 2009, subject to
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and with the benefit of the tenancies then subsisting
(where applicable), was: US$ 209,683,000 (Two Hundred
and Nine Million, Six Hundred and Eighty Three Thousand US Dollars)
In accordance with our normal practice, we confirm that
our Report is confidential to the Company to which it
is addressed for the stated purpose and no responsibility
is accepted to any third party for the whole or any part
of their content.
Yours faithfully,

Olga Kochetova MRICS
Head of Valuation
Russia & CIS					
For and on behalf of Knight Frank ZAO
Report from the Principal External Valuers
DTZ Russia (IMS Project Management LLC) has been
instructed to provide valuations of the real estate assets,
described below, as at 31 December 2009 for reporting
under IFRS purposes:
• Portfolio of eight parking facility developments in
Moscow
• Site with a mixed-use development scheme located
at 24–26, Arbat Street, Moscow
• Site with a mixed-use development scheme located
at 39–41, Arbat Street, Moscow
• Office and retail property located at 7,
Petrovka Street, Moscow
• Office buildings located at 11/2, 1st Magistralnaya
Street, Moscow
• L and plots located at Leninskoye Settlement,
“Pervomaiskoye Selskoye Poseleniye”, Vyborgsky
District, the Leningrad Region

We confirm that the valuations have been prepared in
accordance with the appropriate sections of the Practice
Statements (“PS”) contained within the RICS Valuation
Standards, 6th Edition (the “Red Book”). In accordance with
your instructions we have undertaken our valuations
on the basis of Market Value. When preparing the Market Value calculations for some of the properties
described above we had to make Special Assumptions.
We have made the following Special Assumptions:

• We have assumed that proposed schemes will achieve
the required planning permissions, construction
permits and state registration and will otherwise comply with all municipal and national zoning and
planning laws.
• We have assumed that the projects will be completed
in accordance with planning permissions, specifications, timetables, and floor areas referred to elsewhere
in the report.
• We have assumed that the Client will conclude land
lease agreements in respect of the Subject Land Plots
before commencing the planning and construction
processes.
We consider the Special Assumptions detailed above may
be regarded as realistic, relevant and valid. We would
point out that in some cases, documents pertaining to
the leasehold tenure, ownership, zoning and planning
status of the properties have not been supplied to us, we
have, therefore, been unable to fully verify the information supplied to us by the Client. Please note that the
Aggregate Market Value reported is highly contingent
on the above Special Assumptions and should any element of these Special Assumptions prove to be inaccurate or unachievable, the Aggregate Market Value is
likely to be significantly lower than indicated below.
We would also point out that the land values of the real
estate assets in Moscow, which partly form the Aggregate Market Value, have each been valued on the Special
Assumption that the relevant Planning and Building Permissions in respect of the individual proposed schemes

have been granted as well as Land Lease Agreements were
obtained by the Client as at the date of valuation. In most
cases, such permissions and agreements have not been
granted. Should such permissions and agreements fail to
be granted, the Aggregate Market Value reported herein
is likely to be adversely affected and will be significantly
lower than reported. We assume, unless specifically informed and stated otherwise, that the properties have good
and marketable title and that all documentation is satisfactorily drawn and that there are no unusual outgoings,
planning proposals, onerous restrictions or local authority intentions which affect the properties, nor any material
litigation pending. We have made the Assumption that
the information provided to us in respect of the properties
we have valued is both full and correct. We have made
the Assumption that details of all matters relevant to
value within your and their collective knowledge, such as
prospective lettings, rent reviews, outstanding requirements under legislation and planning decisions, have
been made available to us, and that such information is
up to date. We have made the Assumption that the property complies with all relevant statutory requirements.
The Assumption that no contamination or other adverse environmental matters exist in relation to the property sufficient to affect value was made. We have not
made any investigations to establish whether there is any
contamination or potential for contamination to the
subject properties. It is a condition of DTZ or any related
company, or any qualified employee, providing advice and opinions as to value, that the Client and/or third
parties (whether notified to us or not) accept that the
Valuation Report in no way relates to, or gives warranties
as to, the condition of the structure, foundations, soil
and services. Our valuation has not taken account of the
general condition of the properties. Where a separate
condition or structural survey has been undertaken and
made available to us, we have reflected the contents
of the survey report in our valuation, and we may have
discussed the report with the originating surveyor.
Due regard has not been paid to the apparent state of
repair and condition of the existing properties and a con-

dition survey has not been undertaken, nor has woodwork or other parts of the structure which are covered,
unexposed or inaccessible, been inspected. Therefore,
we are unable to report that the properties are structurally sound or are free from any defects. We have made
an Assumption that the properties are free from any rot,
infestation, adverse toxic chemical treatments, and
structural or design defects other than such as may be
mentioned by us. We do not carry out detailed investigations as to the financial standing of the tenants, except where specifically instructed, and assume, unless
informed otherwise, that in all cases there are no significant arrears of payment and that the tenants are capable of meeting their obligations under the terms of leases
and agreements. Having regard to the foregoing, we are
of the opinion that the aggregate of the Market Values of
the investment properties, as at 31 December 2009,
subject to Special Assumptions and Assumptions described
above, and subject to minor rounding, is: US$ 402,866,000
(Four Hundred and Two Million, Eight Hundred and
Sixty Six Thousand US dollars)
This amount corresponds to the full value of the properties we have appraised on behalf of Eastern Property
Holdings. In the case of partial ownership, we have not
attempted to determine the value of the Client’s share.
In accordance with our normal practice, we confirm that
this Report is confidential to the Company to which it
is addressed for the stated purpose and no responsibility
is accepted to any third party for the whole or any part
of their content.
Yours faithfully,

Joshua Askew MA MRICS
Head of Valuation – Russia
Director
For and on behalf of DTZ
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Report of the Independent auditors to the general meeting of
Eastern Property Holdings Ltd., Tortola, British Virgin Islands
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Eastern Property Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(collectively the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2009,
and the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of cash flows, and consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
Management’s Responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Additional Rules for the Listing of Real Estate
Companies of the SIX Swiss Exchange. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Group as of 31 December 2009, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Additional Rules for the Listing of
Real Estate Companies of the SIX Swiss Exchange.
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw your attention to Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. As indicated therein, the consolidated financial statements include unquoted investment stated at its fair value of
US$ 6.50 million. Because of the inherent uncertainty associated with the valuation of this investment and the absence
of a liquid market, the fair value may differ from its realisable value, and the difference could be material. The fair
value of the investments has been determined by the Board of Directors and has been disclosed in Note 10.
We also draw your attention to Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. As indicated therein, the carrying
amount of Hypercenter Investment SA as at 31 December 2009 is USD 2.72 million. Audited financial information of Hypercenter Investment SA was not available at the time when the Group’s financial statements were prepared by management; its carrying value is therefore based on the latest available management information
provided by Hypercenter Investment SA. Because of the uncertainty associated with the valuation of material investments and development projects held by the Hypercenter Investment SA, the carrying value could be materially different. We have reviewed the procedures applied by the Board of Directors in valuing the carrying value of
Hypercenter Investment SA and the unquoted investment referred to in the preceding paragraph, and have reviewed the underlying documentation. While in the circumstances the procedures appear to be reasonable and the
documentation appropriate, the determination of fair values involves subjective judgement which cannot be
independently verified.
PricewaterhouseCoopers SA

Prince Rahming		
Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Isabel Chung

Geneva, 30 April 2010
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

in US$
Note

Assets
Non-current assets
Investment properties
Assets under development
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Investment in associates
Loans and receivables
Advance for land lease
Furniture and equipment
Total non-current assets
Current assets
Accounts receivable
Advance payment
Loans and receivables
Other current assets
Prepaid taxes
Cash & cash equivalents
Total current assets
Total assets

The notes on pages 55 to 83 are an integral part of these financial statements.

*	

31.12.2008

8 260,412,774 260,717,050
9 40,892,244
72,398,718
10
14,118,200 22,309,600
11 37,166,493 52,749,164
12 25,388,996 30,746,692
1,788,177
1,598,533
64,730
64,551
379,831,614 440,584,308
4,889,630
2,818,381
942,016
1,020,854
12
41,671,889 24,302,197
1,049,366
41,683
4,324,449
749,366
21
4,563,501
8,979,168
57,440,851 37,911,649
437,272,465 478,495,957

Equity
Share capital
Treasury shares
Share premium
Accumulated deficit
Other reserves
Cumulative translation adjustment
Total shareholders’ equity
Minority interests
Total equity
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions for long term liabilities and charges
Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Provisions for liabilities and charges
Property tax
Bank overdraft
Total current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

31.12.2009

15
16
17

15

414,418,955
– 30,050,173
74,761,596
– 113,362,055
718,340
– 14,972,926
331,513,737
498,166
332,011,903

414,418,955
– 15,645,708
74,761,596
– 46,773,274
718,340
– 12,475,006
415,004,903
769,687
415,774,590

37,600,000
4,289,132
3,679,055
45,568,187

39,200,000
7,649,981
4,267,554
51,117,535

43,194,022
2,993,725
12,909,439
8,306,768
3,189,980
–
16
180,829
79,929
202,616
219,694
21
15,489
3,716
59,692,375 11,603,832
437,272,465 478,495,957

Consolidated Income Statement

in US$
31.12.2009

31.12.2008

Rental income
Gross rental income
Ground rents paid
Service charge income on principal basis
Service charge expenses on principal basis
Property operating expenses
Repair and maintenance costs
Non-income taxes
Net rental income

Note

16,355,842
– 263,836
2,399,655
– 2,662,746
– 1,448,317
– 444,800
– 1,026,455
12,909,343

19,591,618
– 282,545
2,594,799
– 3,411,755
– 1,208,690
– 1,002,829
– 1,234,453
15,046,145

Administrative expenses
Performance fees (Release / Reversal of performance fee)
Management fees
Professional and administration fees
Salaries and social charges
Total administrative expenses

– 3,360,849
7,314,579
2,878,025
259,674
7,091,429

– 4,570,580
10,074,719
1,533,918
265,023
7,303,080

Other income / (expenses)
Interest income
Other income
Other operating expenses
Loan impairment charge
Depreciation
Net gain from foreign currency translation
Net other income/ (expenses)

7,819,838 12,504,473
534
1,239,523
– 1,101,432
– 530,595
– 6,152,318
–
– 18,048
– 28,949
5,636,677 – 43,652,613
6,185,251 – 30,468,161

Valuation movements
Net loss from fair value adjustment on financial investments
Net (loss)/ gain from fair value adjustment on investment properties
Valuation movements

10 – 16,918,710 – 37,010,556
8 – 38,198,797 26,603,254
– 55,117,507 – 10,407,302

Development property impairment

– 940,564

Net operating loss before finance cost
Finance costs

–

– 44,054,906 – 33,132,398
– 8,652,575 – 3,621,678

Share of associates’ loss

– 15,212,375 – 36,304,996

Loss before taxes
Income taxes

– 67,919,856 – 73,059,072
1,059,554
362,001

Net loss for the year

– 66,860,302 – 72,697,071

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interest

– 66,588,781 – 72,697,071
– 271,521
–

Earnings per share for profit attributable to equity holders of the Company during the year
Basic and diluted

7

The notes on pages 55 to 83 are an integral part of these financial statements.

*	
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– 15.13

– 15.17

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

in US$
Note

31.12.2009

31.12.2008

Net loss for the year
Net loss for the year

– 66,860,302 – 72,697,071

Other comprehensive loss for the year
Exchange loss on translation of financial statements of foreign operation
Total comprehensive loss for the year

– 2,497,920 – 28,471,407
– 69,358,222 – 101,168,478

Comprehensive loss attributable for the year
Owners of the company
Minority interest
Total comprehensive loss for the year

– 69,086,701 – 101,168,478
– 271,521
–
– 69,358,222 – 101,168,478

The notes on pages 55 to 83 are an integral part of these financial statements.

*	

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

in US$
Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss for the year
Net (gain)/ loss from foreign currency translation
Net unrealised loss/ (gain) on investment properties
Net unrealised loss/ (gain) on development properties
Net unrealised gain on financial investments
Loan impairment charge
Depreciation
Interest income accrued
Share of associates’ gain/ (loss)
Finance costs accrued
Cash generated from operations

31.12.2009

31.12.2008

– 66,860,302 – 72,697,071
– 5,636,677 43,652,613
8 38,198,796 – 26,603,254
940,564
–
10
16,918,710
37,010,556
6,152,318
–
18,048
28,949
– 7,819,838 – 12,504,473
11 15,212,375 36,304,996
8,652,576
3,621,678
5,776,570
8,813,994

Increase / decrease in receivables and other current assets
Increase in payables and other current liabilities
Decrease in other non current liabilities
(Increase)/ decrease in receivables and other current assets
Cash (used in) / generated from operations
Interest income received
Income tax paid
Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investment in associate
Net Purchase of financial instruments
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Investments in development property
Loans granted
Interest-free loan granted to associate
Net cash used in investing activities

4,078,854
– 3,949,348
– 6,654,015
– 747,939

203,731
– 6,356,808
1,674,731
4,335,647

367,435
– 163,822
– 544,326

2,043,743
– 302,890
6,076,500

11
10

– – 57,033,571
– 4,351,751 – 7,141,295
865,222
– 7,795,933 – 9,347,827
12 – 9,347,951 – 42,065,678
11
– – 5,180,000
– 21,495,635 – 119,903,149

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance costs
Purchase of treasury shares
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Dividend paid
Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities

– 5,607,623 – 3,360,727
– 14,404,465 – 7,474,874
38,059,795
224,680
– 1,700,000
– 800,000
– – 3,593,969
16,347,707 – 15,004,890

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Net gain from foreign currency translation
Cash & cash equivalents at the end of the year

21

The notes on pages 55 to 83 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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– 5,692,754 – 128,831,539
8,975,452 150,908,585
1,264,813 – 13,101,594
4,548,012
8,975,452

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

in US$
Ordinary share capital

Treasury shares

Share premium

Accumulated deficit

Balance as at January 1, 2008
Total comprehensive income for the year
Acquisition during the year
Dividend
Balance as at December 31, 2008

414,418,955
–
–
–
414,418,955

– 8,170,834
–
– 7,474,874
–
– 15,645,708

74,662,619
–
98,977
–
74,761,596

29,517,766
– 72,697,071
–
– 3,593,969
– 46,773,274

Total comprehensive income for the year
Acquisition during the year
Dividend
Balance as at December 31, 2009

–
–
–
414,418,955

–
– 14,404,465
–
– 30,050,173

–
–
–
74,761,596

– 66,588,781
–
–
– 113,362,055

Other reserves

Currency translation
adjustment

Shareholders’ equity

Minority Interests

Total

Balance as at January 1, 2008
Total comprehensive income for the year
Acquisition during the year
Dividend
Balance as at December 31, 2008

718,340
–
–
–
718,340

15,996,401
– 28,471,407
–
–
– 12,475,006

527,143,247
– 101,168,478
– 7,375,897
– 3,593,969
415,004,903

–
–
769,687
–
769,687

Total comprehensive income for the year
Acquisition during the year
Dividend
Balance as at December 31, 2009

–
–
–
718,340

– 2,497,920
–
–
– 14,972,926

– 69,086,701
– 14,404,465
–
331,513,737

– 271,521
–
–
498,166

527,143,247
– 101,168,478
– 6,606,210
– 3,593,969
415,774,590
–
– 69,358,222
– 14,404,465
–
332,011,903

in US$

The notes on pages 55 to 83 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts

1. Incorporation and Activity
Eastern Property Holdings Limited (the “Company“) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) is a real estate investment and
development company with a focus on Russia, the CIS, and other
formerly socialist countries or their successors in Central or
Eastern Europe. The Company is a limited liability company pursuant to the BVI Business Company Act 2004 of the British Virgin
Islands and is subject to the laws of the British Virgin Islands. The
Company’s registered offices are located at Blenheim Trust (BVI)
Limited, R.G. Hodge Plaza, Wickhams Cay 1, P.O. Box 3483, Road Town,
Tortola, British Virgin Islands.
The Company‘s mandate is defined as follows:
–– to invest its assets in real estate, both in existing properties as
well as in real estate development projects, which can
be done directly or through subsidiaries or participation in
other companies;
–– to hold participations in all kind of companies with real estate
related activities;
–– to provide real estate financing, sale and lease-back of real
estate, real estate management and to engage in all other real
estate-related activities;
–– to enter into all kind of financial transactions which it may
think conductive to all or any of the above subjects; and
–– to engage in any other business or in any acts or activities,
which are not prohibited under any law for the time being in
force in the British Virgin Islands.
Eastern Property Holdings is a holding company and therefore
does not directly employ any staff of its own. From 2003 until the
end of 2009, its real estate activities have been managed by
Eastern Property Management Limited, a subsidiary of Valartis
Group AG. In December 2009, Eastern Property Management
Limited merged with Valartis International Limited, another Valartis
Group subsidiary. As a result, the real estate activities of the
Company are now managed by Valartis International Limited.
The Company’s 100 % owned subsidiary Redhill Investment Ltd.
(Cyprus) has one employee based in Cyprus. Its 99.85 % owned subsidiary Connecta KG, as of 31 December 2009, employed one
staff member based in Russia. Each of the Company’s Russian subsidiaries and affiliated companies is required to employ a general
director and chief accountant. For many of the companies involved,
the same Valartis Group employees serve in these capacities
with nominal salaries.
The company has its primary listing on the SIX Swiss Exchange.
The consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2009 have
been approved by the Board of Directors on 30 April 2010.

2. Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the

revaluation of investment properties, and financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 6.

3. Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated.
Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards
that are effective in 2009
The following standards and amendments to existing standards
have been published and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 and are relevant to
the Group:
–– IAS1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’ (effective from
1 January 2009). The revised standard requires ‘non-owner
changes in equity’ to be presented separately from owner changes
in equity in a statement of comprehensive income. As a result, the Group presents in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity all owner changes in equity; all non-owner changes
in equity are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The adoption of this revised standard
impacts only presentation aspects; therefore, it has no impact
on profit or earnings per share.
–– IAS 23, ‘Borrowing costs’ (effective from 1 January 2009). Under
the revised standard, an entity is required to capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (one that takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale) as part
of the cost of that asset. The option of immediately expensing those borrowing costs was removed. The capitalisation is
required for qualifying assets for which the commencement
date for capitalisation is on or after 1 January 2009. The Group
has applied this standard in accordance with the transition
provisions.
–– Amendment: IFRS 7, ‘Improving disclosures about financial
instruments’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The IASB published
amendments to IFRS 7 in March 2009. The amendment requires enhanced disclosures about fair value measurements and
liquidity risk. In particular, the amendment requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of a three-level fair value measurement hierarchy. In addition to that, the amendment clarifies that the maturity analysis of liabilities should include issued financial guarantee contracts at the maximum
amount of the guarantee in the earliest period in which the guarantee could be called; and secondly requires disclosure of
remaining contractual maturities of financial derivatives if the
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of
the timing of the cash flows. The entity has to disclose a maturity
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analysis of financial assets it holds for managing liquidity
risk, if that information is necessary to enable users of its financial statements to evaluate the nature and extent of liquidity
risk. The adoption of the amendment results in additional disclosures but does not have an impact on profit or earnings
per share.
–– IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’ (effective from 1 January 2009).
IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14, ‘Segment reporting’, and is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The new
standard requires a ‘management approach’, under which segment information is presented on a similar basis to that
used for internal reporting purposes. The effects of adoption
by the Group are disclosed in Note 5.
–– IAS 40, ‘Investment property’, amendment (and consequential
amendment to IAS 16, ‘Property, plant and equipment’) (effective
from 1 January 2009). The amendments are part of the IASB’s
annual improvements project published in May 2008 and are effective from 1 January 2009. Property that is under construction or development for future use as investment property is
brought within the scope of IAS 40. Where the fair value
model is applied, such property is measured at fair value. However, where fair value of investment property under construction is not reliably determinable, the property is measured
at cost until the earlier of the date construction is completed
and the date at which fair value becomes reliably measurable.
The effects of adoption by the Group are disclosed in Note 8.
–– ‘Improvements to IFRS’ (issued in May 2008). The Improvements project contains numerous amendments to IFRS that the
IASB considers non-urgent but necessary. ‘Improvements to
IFRS’ comprise amendments that result in accounting changes
for presentation, recognition or measurement purposes, as
well as terminology or editorial amendments related to a variety
of individual IFRS standards. Most of the amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.
No material changes to accounting policies arose as a result
of these amendments except to the amendments to IAS 40,
‘Investment property’ (see above).
Interpretations and amendments to standards becoming effective
in 2009 but not relevant to the Group
–– IFRIC 15, ‘Agreements for the construction of real estate’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The interpretation clarifies whether IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ or IAS 11 ‘Construction contracts’ should be
applied to particular transactions. It is likely to result in
IAS 18 being applied to a wider range of transactions. The Group
expects to apply IAS 18 for such sale agreements; however,
IFRIC 15 is currently not relevant to the Group’s operations, as it
has not yet entered into any sale agreements for the property under development classified as inventories.
–– IAS 32 and IAS 1 – Puttable financial instruments and obligations arising on liquidation (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2009);
–– IFRS 2 – Share-based payments – Vesting conditions and cancellations (effective for financial years beginning on or after
1 January 2009);
–– IFRIC 13 – Customer loyalty programmes (effective for financial
years beginning on or after 1 July 2008); and
–– IFRIC 16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 October 2008).

Standards, amendments and interpretations that are not yet
effective and not expected to have significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements

Standard /
interpretation

IAS 27
IFRS 3
IFRS 9
IAS 24*
IAS 32*
IAS 39*
IFRS 1*
Amendment:
IFRS 1*
Amendment:
IFRS 2*
IFRIC 17*
IFRIC 18*
IFRIC 19*

Content

Consolidated and separate financial
statements
Business combinations
Financial instruments: Classification and
measurement
Related party disclosures
Classification of rights issues
Financial instruments: Recognition and
measurement – Eligible hedged items
First-time adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards
Additional exemptions for first-time adopters
Group cash-settled share-based payment
transactions
Distribution of non-cash assets to owners
Transfers of assets from customers
Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity
instruments

Applicable
for financial
years beginning
on / after

1-Jul-09
1-Jul-09
1-Jan-13
1-Jan-11
1-Feb-10
1-Jul-09
1-Jul-09
1-Jan-10

1-Jul-09
1-Jul-09
1-Jul-09

* Not expected to be relevant to the Group.	

–– IAS 27, ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’ (revised
2008; effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2009). The revised standard requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in equity
if there is no change in control and these transactions will no
longer result in goodwill or gains and losses. The standard
also specifies the accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is re-measured to fair value and a
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
–– IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ (revised 2008; effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after
the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on
or after 1 July 2009). The revised standard continues to apply
the acquisition method to business combinations, with some
significant changes. For example, all payments to purchase
a business are to be recorded at fair value at the acquisition
date, with contingent payments classified as debt subsequently re-measured through the income statement. There is
a choice on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure
the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of
the acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-related costs should
be expensed. The Group will apply the revised standard prospectively to all business combinations from 1 January 2010.
–– IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments: Classification and measurement’.
In November 2009, the Board issued the first part of IFRS 9
relating to the classification and measurement of financial as
sets. IFRS 9 will ultimately replace IAS 39. The standard requires an entity to classify its financial assets on the basis of
the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the finan-

cial asset, and subsequently measures the financial assets as
either at amortised cost or fair value. The new standard is mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
–– ‘Improvements to IFRS’ (issued in April 2009). The improvements project contains numerous amendments to IFRS that the
IASB considers non-urgent but necessary. ’Improvements to
IFRS’ comprise amendments that result in accounting changes
for presentation, recognition or measurement purposes, as
well as terminology or editorial amendments related to a variety
of individual IFRS standards. Most of the amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010
respectively, with earlier application permitted. No material
changes to accounting policies are expected as a result of these
amendments.
Early adoption of standards
In 2009, the Group did not early adopt any new or amended
standards and does not plan to early adopt any of the standards
issued but not yet effective.
Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over
which the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more
than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

assets not held by the Group. They are presented separately on
the statement of comprehensive income and in the consolidated statement of financial position separately from the amounts
attributable to the owners of the parent.
Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding
of between 20 % and 50 % (inclusively) of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method
of accounting and are initially recognised at cost.
The Group‘s share of its associates‘ post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in the income statement, and its share of
post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group‘s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group‘s interest in the
associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the
acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition
is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any
minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the
fair value of the Group‘s share of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. All the Group companies have 31 December as their year end. Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
Transactions and minority interests
The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority
interests as transactions with parties external to the Group.
Minority interests represent the portion of profit/ (loss) and net
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Joint Ventures
The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted
for by proportionate consolidation. The Group combines its share of
the joint ventures’ individual income and expenses, assets and
liabilities and cash flows on a line-by-line basis with similar items
in the Group’s financial statements. The group recognises the
portion of gains or losses on the sale of assets by the group to the
joint venture that is attributable to the other venturers. The group
does not recognise its share of profits or losses from the joint venture that result from the Group’s purchase of assets from the
joint venture until it resells the assets to an independent party. However, a loss on the transaction is recognised immediately if the
loss provides evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value of
current assets, or an impairment loss.
Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating DecisionMaker. The Chief Operating Decision-Maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Management Committee.
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged
in providing products or services that are subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of other business segments.
The Group’s format for segment reporting is based on business segment. The business segments are determined based on
the shared natures of products and services, production processes, type of customer, distribution methods, and the regulatory
environment.
Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
The functional currency of the parent company is the US dollar
(US$). The functional currency of the Group’s major subsidiaries is
the Russian ruble (RUB). Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates.
The Company‘s shares are listed on the SIX stock exchange in US
dollars. Therefore, the Group uses the US dollar as its presentation
currency.
Transactions and balances
Foreign currencies transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions, and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies, are recognised in the income statement.
Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of
which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

–– assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that financial position;
–– income and expenses for each income statement are translated
at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and
–– all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings, are
taken to shareholder’s equity. When the foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.
Goodwill and fair value adjustment arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
Property, plant and equipment
–– All property, plant and equipment (PPE) is stated at historical
cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
–– Cost of an item of PPE includes its purchase price and any direct
attributable costs. Cost includes the cost of replacing part of
an existing PPE at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition
criteria are met; and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an item of PPE.
–– Borrowing costs incurred for the purpose of acquiring, constructing or producing a qualifying PPE are capitalised as part
of its cost. A qualifying PPE is an asset that necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use.
Borrowing costs are capitalised while acquisition, construction or production is actively underway and cease once the asset is substantially complete or suspended if the development
of the asset is suspended.
–– Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of those parts that are replaced
is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
–– Depreciation, based on a component approach, is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over the asset’s estimated useful lives, as follows:
–– fixtures and fittings: 4 – 5 years
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least each financial year-end.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in the
income statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Nonfinancial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
Financial assets
Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:
at fair value through profit or loss, and loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification
of its financial assets at initial recognition.
–– Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for
trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or
loss at inception. A financial asset is classified as held for trading if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
short term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading
unless they are designated as hedges. Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss at inception are
those that are managed and their performance is evaluated
on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented Group’s
investment strategy. Information about these financial assets
is provided internally on a fair value basis to the Group entity‘s
key management personnel. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
–– Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date which
are classified as non-current assets.
Recognition and measurement
Regular purchases and sales of investments are recognised on
trade date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair
value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the investments have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Gains or losses arising from changes

in the fair value of the ’financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss‘ category are presented in the income statement within ‘net
gain from fair value adjustment on financial investments’ in the
period in which they arise.
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid
prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially
the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models,
making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as
possible on entity-specific inputs.
In arriving at the fair value for investments in private equity, the
group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These
also include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference
to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted
cash flow analysis, and option pricing models, making maximum
use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entityspecific inputs. Due to the nature and, in general, illiquidity of private equity the valuation of private equity interests involves a
significant degree of uncertainty. The value assigned to such investments is based upon available information and does not necessarily represent amounts that can ultimately be realised. Due to the
inherent uncertainty of valuations, estimated carrying values may
differ significantly from the value that would have been realised had
a ready market for the investments existed. These differences
could be material.
Impairment of financial assets
Assets carried at amortised cost
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
(a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective
evidence of an impairment loss include:
–– Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
–– A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
–– The Group, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
–– It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation;
–– The disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties; or
–– Observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although
the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio, including:
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i) Adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the
portfolio; and
ii) National or local economic conditions that correlate with
defaults on the assets in the portfolio.
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment
exists.
The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and
the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the group may measure impairment on the basis
of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously
recognised impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Investment property
Buildings and land held for long-term rental income, or for capital
appreciation, or both, and that is not occupied by the companies in
the consolidated Group, are classified as Investment Property.
Other than small offices in Berlin House and Petrovsky Fort, none
of its investment properties are occupied by the Group. Property that is under construction or development for future use is also
classified as Investment Property.
Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including
related transaction costs and borrowing costs.
After initial recognition, Investment Property is carried at fair value.
Fair value is determined by professional third party appraisers
at each balance sheet date and is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location
or condition of the specific asset. If active market information is
not available, appraisers use alternative valuation methods
such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash
flow projections.
The fair value of Investment Property reflects, among other things,
rental income from current leases and assumptions about rental
income from future leases in the light of current market conditions.
The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows
that could be expected in respect to the property. Some of those
outflows are recognised as a liability, including finance lease
liabilities in respect to land classified as Investment Property; others,
including contingent rent payments, are not recognised in the
financial statements.

The Moscow offices of international real estate consultants Knight
Frank and DTZ, have been commissioned by the Group to perform
valuations of its real estate holdings. The results of these valuations
have been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors as
representing the fair values of these assets as of 31 December 2009.
Subsequent expenditures are capitalised to the assets’ carrying
amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. When part of an investment property is replaced, the carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised.
Changes in fair values are recorded in the income statement. Investment properties are derecognised either when they have
been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected
from its disposal.
Where the Group disposes of a property at fair value in an arm’s
length transaction, the carrying value immediately prior to the sale
is adjusted to the transaction price, and the adjustment is recorded in the income statement within Net gain from fair value
adjustment on Investment Property.
Following the early adoption of IAS 40 (revised) in 2008, investment properties under construction have been transferred
from property, plant and equipment to Investment Properties
at 31 December 2008 at their carrying amount. They have
subsequently been fair valued at the reporting date.
If an item of owner-occupied property becomes an Investment Property because its use has changed, any difference resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the
date of transfer is treated in the same way as a revaluation under IAS 16. Any resulting increase in the carrying amount of the
property is recognised in the profit or loss to the extent that
it reverses a previous impairment loss, with any remaining increase
recognised in other comprehensive income and increases directly to revaluation surplus within equity. Any resulting decrease in the
carrying amount of the property is initially charged in other comprehensive income against any previously recognised revaluation
surplus, with any remaining decrease charged to profit or loss.
For a transfer from Inventories to Investment Property that will
be carried at fair value, any difference between the fair value of the
property at that date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in the profit or loss.
Where an Investment Property undergoes a change in use, evidenced
by commencement of development with a view to sale, the property is transferred to inventories. A property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting as inventories is its fair value at the date of
change in use.
The Group’s Investment Property also includes certain long-term
leasehold land, which is accounted for as if it was a finance lease
under IAS 17 “Leases”. Each lease payment on the long-term

leasehold property is allocated between the liability and finance
charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance lease
balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of
future finance charges, are included in current and non-current
lease liability on leasehold property. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the consolidated income statement over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period in
accordance with IAS 40 “Investment Property”.
Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency
in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade
receivables.
Advance payment
Advance payment is stated at historical cost less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of advance payment is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will
not be able to collect goods or services due according to the
terms of the payments. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying value and the present value
of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate. This provision is recognised in the income statement.
When an advance payment is uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account for advance payment.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in-hand and
short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or
less, net of bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown separately
in the current liabilities on the balance sheet.
Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation
to transfer cash or other assets.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
Where a Group company purchases the Company’s equity share
capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including directly
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted
from equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the
shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income

tax effects, and is included in equity attributable to the Company’s
equity holders.
Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount can be reliably estimated.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as finance cost.
Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity and other
comprehensive income. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
equity.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation
and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.
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Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by
the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable for the sale of goods and services rendered in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities.
Revenue is recognised when the amount can be reliably measured,
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the
Group, and specific criteria for each of the activities have been
met. Estimates are based on historical results, taking into consideration the type of counterparties, the type of transactions
and the specifics of each arrangement.
Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the terms
of lease agreements.
Property sales
Sale of properties is recognised when the risks and rewards of
the properties are passed to the purchasers. Deposits and instalments
received on properties sold prior to their completion are included
under current liabilities.
Service fees
Property management service fee, property letting agency fee,
transportation service fee, security service fee and financial service
fee are recognised when services are rendered.
Interest
Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective
interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces
the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated
future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate
of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired receivables is recognised
using the original effective interest rate.
Leases
Finance lease
Leases that substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and
rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at
the lower of the fair value of the leased assets and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve
a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in
liabilities. The finance charges are charged to the income statement over the lease periods so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.

Operating leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor), are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease
Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

4. Financial Risk Management
Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk,
cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.
Risk management is carried out by the Management Committee
and supervised by the Board of Directors.
Market risk
Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the Russian ruble / US dollar exchange rate. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised monetary assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations.
The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose
net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk.
The Group seeks, when possible, to reduce the currency exposure
arising from these assets by obtaining direct funding in the
same currency.
The presentation currency of the financial statements is the US
dollar and the functional currency of the Group’s major subsidiaries, jointly-controlled entities, associates and equity investees
is the Russian ruble.
Most of the Group’s rental income is based on US$-denominated leases. Payment under the leases is made in RUB. Many expenses on the level of the Group’s properties are RUB denominated. In order to reduce its exposure to exchange rate risk,
for example that a strong RUB would increase operating expenses while rents remain constant in US$, the Group, when possible, has set a lower limit to the RUB/US$ exchange rate used
for payment of rents.
As all of the Group’s loan liabilities are denominated in US$,
all lease agreements with tenants in the Group’s properties remain
US$-linked. In addition, the Group promptly exchanges significant RUB cash balances to US$ during periods of exchange rate
volatility or unpredictability in order to ensure its ability to
meet debt service and other major US$ obligations.

Other than interest and management fees, most significant expenses such as construction costs, property maintenance, security
utilities and other operating costs are denominated and payable
in RUB. The Group seeks to minimise its exposure to foreign exchange
risk by carefully monitoring currency markets and holding appropriate amounts of US$ or RUB to meet its obligations.
As at 31 December 2009, if the US dollar had weakened / strengthened by 5 % against the Russian Ruble with all other variables
held constant, Net Profit for the year would have been US$ 3.7 million (2008: US$ 3.7 million) higher / lower, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains / losses on translation of US$-denominated
borrowings in subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities and
RUB-denominated borrowings in the Company.
Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk from Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.
Market quotations are not readily available for the Group’s private
equity investments, namely Sarnatus. The group arrived at a
fair value for this investment as described below. Responsibility for
determining such values lies exclusively with the Management
Committee and the Board of Directors. In estimating the fair value
of private equity investments, the Board of Directors considers
all appropriate and applicable factors relevant to their value, including but not limited to the following:
–– Reference to the average market valuation multiples of publicly
traded companies with similar businesses,
–– Valuation of real estate by professional real estate appraisers
with reference to recent transactions prices, rental and capitalisation rates etc.
Details on valuation methods are disclosed in Note 10 of the financial statements.
As at 31 December 2009, the Group’s market risk is affected by
mainly the changes in actual market prices.
If the value of the investments and securities (based on year-end
values) had increased or decreased by 20 % with all other variables
held constant, the impact on the income statement and the consolidated statement of shareholders’ equity would have been US$
2.82 million (2008: US$ 4.46 million)
Because the Group is generally exposed to a variety of market risk
factors which may vary significantly over time, measurement of
such exposure at any given point in time may be difficult given the
flexibility, complexity and limited transparency of the underlying
investments. Therefore, a sensitivity analysis is deemed of limited
explanatory value, or may be misleading.
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
As at 31 December 2009, the Group has significant loans receivables of US$ 67.06 million (2008: US$ 50.81 million). The majority
of these loans are interest-bearing at fixed rates, which expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk. Since the majority of the
loans have a contractual maturity of less then one year, fair value of the loans receivable was similar to the carrying value.

Most of the loans were granted within the Group or to the Group’s
joint venture companies. To mitigate its risk, loans are made with
relatively short maturities allowing for frequent resetting of rates,
and in accordance with shareholder agreements which stipulate
that interest rates will be consistent with market interest rates.
As at 31 December 2009, if interest rates on loans granted had
been 1 % higher/lower with all other variables being constant, the
fair value of the loans would be US$ 0.63 million lower/higher
(2008: US$ 0.51 million).
The Group’s interest rate risk arises also from long–term borrowings.
Borrowings issued at variable rates do not expose the Group to
fair value risk, but do create cashflow interest rate risk. The two borrowings of the group as at year end are issued at variable rates.
The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using
floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. Such interest rate swaps have
the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates
to fixed rates. Under the interest rate swaps, the group agrees with
other parties to exchange, at specific intervals, the difference
between fixed contract rates and floating-rate interest amounts
calculated by reference to the agreed notional amounts. The value
of the interest rate swaps does fluctuate, so by entering into the
swaps the Group has opted to reduce its cash flow interest rate risk
by accepting increased interest rate fair value risk.
Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
deposits with banks and financial institutions, credit exposure to
loans provided to jointly-controlled entities and associated
companies, as well as rents and other receivables from tenants.
Most of the Group’s loans have been granted to joint venture companies to finance development projects. As such the ultimate borrowers are, to the extent of ownership, the Group itself and its joint
venture partners. Loans to the project companies are not guaranteed
by the joint venture owners, but are secured by the underlying assets, and first claim over future cash flows of the joint ventures. The
Group and the Company are able to further manage exposure to
credit risk in respect of the financial assistance provided to subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associated companies through
exercising control or significant influence over their financial and operating policy decisions and reviewing the development and valuations of the underlying investment projects regularly.
The Group has policies in place to monitor its exposure to non-payment of rents by its tenants, including pre-screening prior to signing
leases, careful monitoring of rental receipts, and efforts to collect
rents or terminate leases before receivables become substantial.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is
the fair value of the loan receivables and cash and cash equivalent. A loan receivable for the amount of US$ 5.2 million (2008:
US$ 10.4 million) is secured by the surety of third parties and the
right to claim assets in case of non-payment. Loan agreements
for US$ 61.86 million (2008: US$ 39.5 million) contain provisions
to ensure repayment (mortgage over the property once its
construction is finished, pledge of accounts), once the respective
collateral is available.
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Liquidity risk
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity on
the basis of expected cash flow.

cash flows differ from the amount included in the consolidated balance sheet because the consolidated balance sheet amount is
based on discounted cash flows.

The table below shows liabilities as at 31 December 2009 by their
remaining contractual maturity. The amounts disclosed in the
maturity table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, including gross finance lease obligations (before deducting future finance charges), and gross loan commitments. Such undiscounted

Foreign currency payments are translated using the exchange rate
at the balance sheet date.

in US$

Year 2009
Liabilities
Loans
Gross finance lease liabilities
Rental deposits
Trade and other payables

Less than
1 Month

Less than
6 Months

Less than
1 Year

1 to 5
Years

More than
5 Years

1,106,619
70,362
–
5,849,091

43,683,676
70,362
–
6,658,592

1,783,361
140,727
–
–

42,356,235
1,125,803
1,051,459
4,289,132

–
9,601,347
84,224
–

Less than
1 Month

Less than
6 Months

Less than
1 Year

1 to 5
Years

More than
5 Years

682,415
58,168
–
3,820,766

2,969,045
58,168
17,078
4,531,606

400,000
116,337
–
–

38,400,000
1,106,976
1,295,926
7,649,981

–
9,747,640
77,090
–

Year 2008
Liabilities
Loans
Gross finance lease liabilities
Rental deposits
Trade and other payables

Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. As at 31 December 2009, the
Group’s gearing ratio is 19.8 % (2008: 8.3 %) This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s
gearing ratio increased in 2009 primarily due to the increased debt
level resulting from the drawing of a US$ 40 million loan in
January 2009 (Note 15). Total capital is calculated as ‘shareholders
equity’ as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt.
Under the loan agreement between Connecta KG, a partnership
in which the Company is 99.85 % limited partner, and Aareal Bank,
for an original principal amount of US$ 40.00 million, secured
by a mortgage against Berlin House (Note 8) the ratio of net rental
income to outstanding credit liabilities must not be less than
13 %. In the case that the ratio trespasses this threshold, Connecta
KG is to pay 50 % of its net rental profits to an account pledged
to the bank. Should the ratio fall below 11 %, Connecta KG is obligated to pay 100 % of its net rental profits to the before mentioned account. The bank will repay these amounts to the borrower,
once the ratio has been within the provisions of the credit agree-

ment for two consecutive interest payment periods. In case the
ratio falls below 11 %, the bank may exert an extraordinary right to
cancel the credit agreement.
Furthermore, the loan agreement between Connecta KG and Aareal
Bank foresees the compliance with an interest coverage degree of
160 %, meaning the net rental income must not be less than 160 %
of the interest payment obligations for a 12 month period.
The Loan-to-Value provision of the agreement dictates that the
overall credit amount granted to the borrower can be equal to a
maximum of 70 % of the fair value of the building.
Under the loan agreement between Stainfiled Limited, a 100 %
subsidiary of the Company, and UniCredit Bank for an original principal amount of US$ 40.00 million, secured by a mortgage against
Petrovsky Fort (Note 8) the ratio of debt service to net rental
income shall not fall below 135 %, meaning the net rental income
must not be less then 135 % of the interest and amortisation
payment obligations for the next 12 months. If the ratio falls below
135 %, Stainfield is to pay its excess rental income after payment
of debt service into an account pledged to the bank. Under certain
circumstances the bank can use the amounts deposited to pay
down the principal amount of the loan. Otherwise they will be released to Stainfield. If the ratio of debt service to net rental income falls below 100 % the bank has the right to accelerate the loan.
The Loan-to-Value provision of the agreement dictates that the
overall credit amount granted to the borrower can be equal to a
maximum of 65 % of the fair value of the building.

Fair value estimation
Effective 1 January 2009, the Company adopted the amendment to
IFRS 7. This requires the Group to classify fair value measurements
using fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs
used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:
–– Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities (level 1).
–– Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).
–– Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value
measurement is categorised is determined on the basis of
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. For this purpose, the significance of an input is
assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety. If a
fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require
significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance
of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety
requires judgement, considering factors specific to the asset
or liability.
The determination of what constitutes ‘observable’ requires significant judgement by the Group. The Group considers observable
data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.

The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the group
is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered
to be active but are valued based on quoted market prices, dealer
quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable
inputs are classified within level 2. These include investmentgrade corporate bonds and over-the-counter derivatives. As level 2
investments include positions that are not traded in active markets and/or are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations may be
adjusted to reflect illiquidity and/or non-transferability, which
are generally based on available market information.
Investments classified within level 3 have significant unobservable
inputs, as they trade infrequently. Level 3 instruments include
private equity or unquoted securities. As observable prices are not
available for these securities, the Group has used valuation
techniques to derive the fair value.
The level 3 investments consist of a single private equity position
(Sarnatus) and investment fund (Valartis Russian & CIS Fixed
Income Fund). The main inputs into the Group’s valuation model
for the investment in Sarnatus are discussed in Note 10 of these
financial statements. In the case of the investment fund, the Group
is dependent on Fund Administrator to provide monthly estimated fair values.
The following table presents the movement in level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2009 by class of financial
instrument.
Fair value estimation
In US$

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities (by class) measured at fair value at 31 December 2009:
Fair value estimation
In US$
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Unicredit and Sarnatus and
Gazprom Aareal banks Valartis fund

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss:
Bonds and equivalents
Investment Fund
Private equity
investments
End of period
Financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss:
Derivatives
End of period

4,503,200
–

–
– 4,750,000
– 3,115,000 3,115,000

–
4,503,200

– 6,500,000 6,500,000
– 9,615,000 14,118,200

– 3,189,980
– 3,189,980

– 3,189,980
– 3,189,980

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is
based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market
is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

Sarnatus

Opening balance
Purchases
Sales
Transfers into level 3
Gains/ (Losses) recognised in
income statement
Closing balance

Valartis fund

Total

20,350,000
–
–
–

– 20,350,000
2,510,000 2,510,000
–
–
–
–

– 13,850,000
6,500,000

605,000 – 13,245,000
3,115,000 9,615,000

5. Segment information
The Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) of the Group
has been identified as the Management Committee, which has
been given responsibility for allocating the Group’s resources
between its various assets, and operating the Group on a day to
day basis under the Real Estate Management Agreement.
The Management Committee has access to detailed financial
reports for all the Group’s assets and evaluates the performance
of each on an individual basis. Based on the shared natures
of products and services, production processes, type of customer,
distribution methods, and regulatory environment, the Group’s
assets have been aggregated into four operating segments: rental
properties, development properties, passive investments, and
development financing.
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1. Rental Properties which consist of:
–– 99.9 % of two commercial properties
–– 97.3 % of a commercial property.
Rental Properties generate rental income and incur expenses primarily for maintenance and building operations. The Group’s Rental
properties are in Russia’s two largest cities: Moscow and St. Petersburg, and are comprised predominantly of office space, with a
smaller amount of retail space in two of the three properties. The assets are kept at fair value, which is generally based on the leases
in place and market-wide valuation criteria (yields, reversion rents).
The Rental Properties segment generates product or service-based
recurring revenues by providing commercial premises for which
rental income is received. Gross and net rents for the Segment are
reflected as such in both the Consolidated Income Statement
and accounts presented by segment.
Three tenants account for over 10 % each of revenues of the
Rental Properties segment. One such tenant’s annual rent under the
lease is US$ 2.82 million (2008: US$ 2.78 million), the second
one is US$ 2.26 (2008: US$ 1.75 million), million and the last one
is US$ 1.81 million (2008: US$ 2.47 million).
2. Development properties which consist of
–– 97.3 % of a land plot in Russia for development
–– 50 % of a joint venture which owns a commercial property
in Moscow which was under construction during 2009 and was
physically complete and commissioned, but not yet fitted-out
for occupancy at year end.
–– 50 % of a company with certain rights to the development of
parking garages in Moscow
–– 48.7 % of a joint venture to develop two mixed-use properties
in Moscow
Development properties generate revaluation gains and losses, also
based on certain dynamics (cost and availability of financing to
developers, risk appetite, stage of completion) which are shared by
all projects, yet different from those impacting Rental Properties.
The Group’s Development assets are in or near Russia’s two largest
cities; Moscow and St. Petersburg. Development properties reflect a mixture of properties which, when completed, will either be
retained and held as Rental properties, or will be, in the course
of business held for sale.

3. Passive investments which consist of:
–– 25.9 % of a joint venture which develops commercial real estate
in Russia
–– 10 % of a company which owns an office property and a minority stake in four shopping centers and a food retailer in Russia.
Passive investments represent investments which are minority
owned, and not actively managed by the Group. The Passive investment segment is comprised of a stake in the Mosmart retail chain,
the office building housing its headquarters and four shopping centers which Mosmart stores anchor, and a joint venture created
to build shopping centers which would be anchored by Mosmart.
4. Development financing which consists of loans made to fund
development projects, and consists of:
–– Loans to a 50 %-owned joint ventures
–– Loans to two 48.7 %-owned joint ventures
–– Loans to a Russian development company and one of its
primary shareholders.
Development financing represents interest bearing loans made for
the purpose of developing real estate in Russia. The Group’s
lending has primarily been to joint ventures in which it has ownership interest and the ability to actively protect its interests.
In the case in which the Group does not have an active role in
the management of the borrowing company, it has secured
the right, in case of non-payment, to take a majority stake in the
development it has financed. In case of joint ownership of a development project, the amount reflected in the Group’s accounts is
that portion which is not an eliminated in consolidation.
Development financing generates interest income for the Group.
All of the Group’s Rental properties, Passive investments, and
Development projects are in Russia, as are the assets securing the
Group’s Development financing.
Information provided to the Management Committee is measured
in a manner consistent with that in the financial statements.
Revenue of the Group by operating activities for the year is as
follows:

US$
31.12.2009
Rental property

Gross rental income
Net rental income
Interest income
Valuation movements
Development property impairment
Finance costs
Share of associates’ gain / (loss)
Net (loss) / profit for the period

16,355,842
12,909,343
–
– 41,575,766
–
–
–
– 28,823,593

Development
properties

Passive
investments

–
–
–
–
–
–
308,260 – 13,850,000
– 940,564
–
–
–
– 5,191,917 – 10,020,458
– 9,026,121 – 24,056,050

Development
financing

Total

– 16,355,842
– 12,909,343
7,819,838
7,819,838
– – 55,117,506
–
– 940,564
– 8,652,575 – 8,652,575
– – 15,212,375
– 4,954,538 – 66,860,301

US$
31.12.2008
Rental property

Gross rental income
Net rental income
Interest income
Valuation movements
Finance costs
Share of associates’ gain / (loss)
Net (loss) / profit for the period

Development
properties

Passive
investments

Development
financinig

Total

19,591,618
19,591,618
15,046,145
–
–
– 15,046,145
820,597
11,683,876 12,504,473
– 6,831,225 33,434,479 – 37,010,556
– – 10,407,302
–
–
– – 3,621,678 – 3,621,678
– – 17,397,689 – 18,907,307
– – 36,304,996
– 6,681,733
8,803,720 – 55,917,863 – 18,901,195 – 72,697,071

The Management Committee also assesses the performance of
operating segments based on the results of valuation of the
respective assets.
Asset and liabilities valuation as of 31 December 2009
Rental properties

Investment properties
Assets under development
Financial investments
Investment in associates
Loans and receivables
Other Assets
Total Portfolio
Total Liabilities

Development
properties

Passive
investments

138,246,085 122,166,689
40,892,244
34,441,633
10,992,080

Total

14,118,200
2,724,860

260,412,774
40,892,244
14,372,061
37,166,493
67,060,885 67,060,885
2,686,975 17,368,008

16,843,060

69,747,860 437,272,465
84,800,181 105,260,562

3,942,814

149,238,165 201,443,380

Development
financing

7,794,070

12,666,311

–

Rental properties

Development
properties

Passive
investments

Asset and liabilities valuation as of 31 December 2008
Investment properties
Assets under development
Financial investments
Investment in associates
Loans and receivables
Other Assets
Total Portfolio
Total Liabilities

176,934,773

55,048,889
5,662,881

22,309,600
13,113,282

1,064,064

185,480,364 196,880,941
10,731,542

Total

260,717,050
72,398,718
22,309,600
52,749,164
55,048,889
15,272,536

83,782,277
72,398,718
39,635,882

8,545,591

Development
financing

8,097,971

35,422,882
322,500

60,711,770 478,495,957
43,569,354

Reconciliation to the Statement of Financial Position
Total Portfolio
Asset value per statement of financial position

31.12.2009
437,272,465
437,272,465

31.12.2008
478,495,957
478,495,957

Total Liabilities
Liabilities per statement of financial position

105,260,562
105,260,562

62,721,367
62,721,367
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62,721,367

6. Critical Accounting Estimates
and Judgments
The preparation of financial statements requires Management to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may
differ from these estimates. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below.
Estimate of fair value of investment properties
Valuation of investment properties
The fair value of each investment property is individually determined at each balance sheet date by independent valuers based on
a market value assessment. The valuers have relied on discounted
cash flow analysis, capitalisation of income, residual value, and direct comparison methodologies. Discounted cash flow and income capitalisation approaches are based upon estimates of future
results and a set of assumptions specific to each property to reflect its tenancy and cashflow profile. The residual value approach
uses assumptions as to what a property would be worth if it
currently existed, the costs involved in realising the asset, and what
profit an acquirer would require in order to accept the risks
involved. The direct comparison approach involves incomplete
information on other transactions and price adjustments for
quality and location which can, at best, be approximately quantified. Had a different assessment been made of the assumptions underlying the valuation report, the recorded fair values of
the property development rights would have been higher or
lower as at the date of valuation.
In the case of assets which are not currently in use for a specific purpose, for example as rental property, the valuers have made assumptions as to how an asset can or will ultimately be utilised, using
the principle of highest and best use. In case the Group chooses
to develop, complete, or employ an asset in a way which differs
from the valuer’s assumption, a future valuation reflecting the different use may be significantly different.
Management has reviewed the appraisers’ assumptions underlying
the models used in the valuation, and confirmed that factors
such as the discount rate and market rents applied have been appropriately determined considering the market conditions at
the balance sheet date. Notwithstanding the above, there has been
little or no transactional evidence to support these assumptions
so management considers that the valuation of its investment properties is currently subject to an increased degree of judgement
and an increased likelihood that actual proceeds on a sale may differ
from the carrying value.
At 31 December 2009, if the market value of investment properties
had been 10 % higher/lower with all other variables held constant,
the carrying value of the Group’s investment properties would have
been US$ 26.0 (2008: US$ 26.1 million) higher/lower.
The Group uses assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at each balance date, including:

–– Discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates
of future cash flows, derived from the terms of any existing lease
and other contracts and (where possible) from external evidence such as the receipt of contractual rents; expected future
market rents; void periods; maintenance requirements, estimated cost of construction, and using discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty in the
amount and timing of the cash flows.
–– Certain properties for / under development require additional
permission or permits from the Russian authorities. In these
cases, assumptions may be made by the valuers in the course
of their work that all required planning, construction permits and state registration will be secured, and will comply
with all municipal and national zoning and planning laws
and that the scheme will be completed.
–– Current prices in other, more active markets for properties
of different nature, condition or location (or subject to different
lease or other contracts), adjusted to reflect those differences;
recent prices of similar properties in less active markets, with
adjustments to reflect any changes in economic conditions
since the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices.
In common with a number of Russian real estate developers, the
Group is exposed to certain risks associated with the delay in
the commencement and completion of its projects. Certain subsidiaries within the Group have entered into investment contracts. Such investment contracts specify the term during which
construction of the relevant project must be completed. These
investment contracts include completion deadlines which may already be impossible to meet. The Group’s experience is that
such deadlines can be successfully renegotiated or extended to
meet realistic completion schedules, however, there is no assurance the relevant government agencies will accommodate the
Group’s future requests. If permission to extend an investment
contract is refused, or a contract is terminated, it is possible that
compensation will be only nominal, and even that will be substantially delayed. In such a case the Group would lose all its rights
in respect of the relevant project and most or all of the investment made in such project to date.
The Group is also exposed to property price and property rentals
risk, which are driven by take-up, new construction deliveries
and vacancy rates, as well as yield compression or expansion trends,
which in turn are driven by macroeconomic and other factors
that are largely beyond the Group’s control. Moreover, the Russian
real estate market involves few transactions, and when properties do change hands, complete information is generally not
available. Due to the relatively short history of the Russian
property sector, it remains impossible to determine long term
averages for rents or capitalisation rates, thus the value of
the Group’s properties and the rental income which those properties may earn remains uncertain.
Estimate of expected future use of the investment projects or
properties
In order to determine the appropriate accounting treatment for the
Group’s investment projects or properties, the Group allocated the
cost of development to the individual property components i.e. retail
and residential apartments, based on estimated future revenues.

Unavailability of financial information
The Group is a minority shareholder in certain investments, and as
such is not actively involved in the management of these companies, nor the preparation of their financial information. As such, the
Group may not have access to financial information for these
investments in a timely manner, or at all, and may have no choice
but to make estimates for valuation purposes based on the limited information available at the time valuations are determined. The
Group may also not be able to control the timing of independent
third party audit of these companies, and may have to apply its own
judgement as to the reliability of the information it does receive.

Certain properties for/ under development require additional
permission or permits from the Russian authorities. In these cases,
assumptions are made by the valuer in their valuation that all
the required planning, construction permits and state registrations
will be secured, and will comply with all municipal and national
zoning and planning laws and that the scheme will be completed.

Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments where no active market exists or where quoted prices are not otherwise available are determined by using valuation techniques. In these cases, the fair values
are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial
instruments or using models. Where market observable inputs are
not available, they are estimated based on appropriate assumptions. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the
reported fair value of financial instruments.

Concentration of business risk
All of the Group’s real estate assets are located in Russia, primarily
in the two largest cities, Moscow and St. Petersburg. As a result
of this geographic and sectoral concentration, any change in the
Russian political or regulatory environment, any decline in economic activity in Russia generally, or Moscow or St. Petersburg in
particular, and any downturn or weakness in the local real estate market due to changes in the level of demand for or supply
of commercial space or otherwise, may each adversely affect
the Group’s results of operations, financial condition and the value
of its properties. In addition, each of the Group’s current holdings corresponds to a significant proportion of its assets, thus each
has the potential to materially affect the Group’s equity value
and profitability.

Impairment of assets
The Group determines whether an asset is impaired by evaluating
the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is
less than its cost. In determining fair value, valuations of independent appraisers are used. This evaluation is subject to changes in factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flow.
The Group reviews its loan and receivable balances to assess
impairment on a periodic basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the consolidated income statement, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating an impairment trigger followed by measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the various
loans. Management also uses estimates in order to determine
the fair value of collateral assets for calculating the impairment. This
evidence may include observable data indicating that there has
been an adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a
group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate
with defaults on assets in the Group. Management uses estimates
based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those
in the portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and
timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
Impairment of assets under development
The Group compares the carrying amounts of assets under development to their estimated net realisable value based on assessment of the reliability of these properties, taking into account
costs to completion based on past experience and net sales value based on prevailing market conditions. Provision is made
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts may not be realised. The assessment requires the use
of judgement and estimates. The fair value of each property for/
under development is determined at each balance sheet date
by independent valuers based on a market value assessment.

As a result of the current economic environment and market
conditions, valuations are often below acquisition costs, in which
case carrying values have been reduced to reflect the lower
amount.

Internal cash flow analysis has been prepared by the management
of the Group to support the going concern assumption in the
business. Management used its judgment and made assumptions
based on the existing management information and the market
conditions existing as at balance sheet date in preparing its internal cashflow analysis. If the assumptions as to the timing and
magnitude of future events prove to be inaccurate, the going concern assumption may no longer be applicable.
The Group use its cash flows primarily for operating expenses, debt
service, and capital expenditures. Cash not immediately required
for these purpose may be put into short term financial investments,
or available to be paid as dividends or to repurchase shares. Currently, the Group’s principal sources of liquidity consist of cash flows
from operations and existing cash balances.
Cash flows from operations may be adversely affected by factors
such as the current economic downturn, which is causing a reduction in demand for office, retail, and residential space in much of
the world, and especially Russia, where the Group’s assets are
situated. Cash flows from operations are positively affected when
development projects are completed and leased to tenants.
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In the course of its business, the Group can also receive significant cash flows on a one off basis when a development project is
completed and monetised, either through sale or refinancing.
Unlike companies which require an interlocking production and
distribution network to operate, the Group is able to raise cash
by selling a single real estate asset or investment without impacting
the value or operations of the rest of its holdings.
The Group’s ability to make scheduled debt service payments, and
fund operations and capital expenditures depends on the Group’s
future performance and financial results, the successful implementation of our business strategy, as well as the general condition
of the real estate industry and the general economic, political,
financial, competitive, legislative and regulatory environment. In
addition, the ability to obtain additional funding adds to a certain extent on these same factors. Many factors affecting the Group’s
future performance and financial results, including the severity
and duration of macro-economic downturns, are beyond its control.

8. Investment Properties
Investments properties comprise the following:
in US$
31.12.2009

Berlin House
in US$
31.12.2009

Income taxes
The Group is potentially subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining the
worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. Details are included in note 13 of the financial
statements.

7. Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income
for the year by the weighted average number of shares outstanding
during the year. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income for the year by the weighted average number
of shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for the effect of
dilutive warrants. The Company has not had any warrants outstanding since 2006, so since 2007 there has been no difference
between basic and diluted earnings per share.
in US$
31.12.2009

Earnings per share
Net profit attributable to shareholders
Weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding
Earnings per share (US$ per share)

31.12.2008

– 66,588,781 – 72,697,071
4,402,274
– 15.13

4,791,979
– 15.17

31.12.2008

Investment properties
Berlin House
71,488,034 82,812,058
Petrovsky fort
59,109,921 76,226,754
Magistral’naya
7,648,130 17,895,961
Geneva House
56,743,000 55,945,000
Multi-use complexes in the center of Moscow 20,054,689 27,837,277
Land and plots in St. Petersburg
45,369,000
–
End of period
260,412,774 260,717,050

Berlin House
Beginning of the period
Addition
Revaluation
Land lease obligations
End of period

31.12.2008

82,812,059 103,465,002
–
–
– 11,324,025 – 20,652,943
–
–
71,488,034 82,812,059

Berlin House is a 13,000 square meter commercial property located
at 5 Petrovka Street in Moscow. The building’s 7,800 square meters of net rentable space is divided between 5,760 square meters
of office space and 2,040 square meters of retail space. Of the
eight above-ground floors, six are devoted to office space and two
are devoted to retail space. One of the three underground levels
contains retail space, and the remaining two contain 64 parking
spaces. Berlin House was commissioned in June 2002.
As of 31 December 2009, the vacancy rate as a percentage of total
rentable space was, for office space, 0 % (2008: 0 %), and for retail space, 0 % (2008: 0 %). Rental income for the property for the
year was US$ 7.45 million (2008: US$ 8.02 million). The following table indicates the exposure to non-renewals of existing leases
over the periods indicated:
in US$
31.12.2009

Berlin House
No later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

31.12.2008

(undiscounted amounts)

6,694,401 8,139,178
11,725,068 18,753,575
–
–

As of 31 December 2009, the top five tenants in the building, by
net rent paid in 2009, are Reuters, UFG, MFK Jamilco, Terra LLC and
Raiffeisen Bank. These top five tenants account for approximately
79 % of the annual net rent (2008: 78 %).
Berlin House
Remaining lease term

Less than one year
One to five years
More than five years

Percentage of space

Net rent as a
percentage of total

Office

Retail

Office

Retail

7%
93 %
0%

42 %
58 %
0%

6%
94 %
0%

46 %
54 %
0%

The fair value of Berlin House was determined to be US$ 71.5 million as of 31 December 2009 (2008: US$ 82.8 million) based on
an independent valuation prepared by Knight Frank, Moscow, which
was adjusted only for outstanding land lease obligations with
respect to the long-term leasehold land under the property. The valuation was based on discounted cash flow projections, using a
discount rate of 10.0 % on net income (2008: 10.0 %).
Berlin House is held via the subsidiary company Connecta GmbH &
Co. KG. The subsidiary company uses the Russian ruble as its functional currency and the US dollar as its presentation currency. The
property is appraised in US$, then converted to a RUB carrying
value for the financial statements of Connecta. The RUB value may
change from one period to the next based on a change in the
appraised value, the US$/RUB exchange rate on balance sheet date,
or both. During the year, the US$ fair value of the property decreased by US$ 11.32 million (2008: US$ 20.65 million), while modest
weakening of the RUB against the US$ during the period offset
the decrease by US$ 0.02 million (2008: US$ 20.42 million). The resulting net unrealised loss of US$ 11.30 million has been recognised in the income statement of the Group as at 31 December 2009
(2008: loss of US$ 0.24 million).
As of 31 December 2009, Connecta had registered one mortgage
on the building which served as collateral for the negotiation of a
credit facility in the amount of US$ 40.00 million from Aareal
Bank AG, Germany.
Petrovsky Fort
in US$
31.12.2009

Petrovsky Fort
Beginning of the period
Addition
Revaluation
Land lease obligations
End of period

31.12.2008

76,226,754 101,860,919
577,267
–
– 17,694,099 – 25,634,165
–
–
59,109,921 76,226,754

Petrovsky Fort is a 49,000 square meter Class B office and retail
building located at 4 Finlyandsky Prospect in central St. Petersburg.
The building has nine office and two retail levels and a large central atrium. Of the net rentable space, 15,000 square meters are designated for office use and about 6,000 square meters as retail
space. The building has an underground parking facility with 116
parking spaces and an above-ground car park with 33 parking spaces.

As of 31 December 2009, the vacancy rate as a percentage of total
rentable space was, for office space, 31 % (2008: 16 %), and for
retail space, 40 % (2008: 2 %). Rental income for the property for
the year was US$ 7.1 million (2008: US$ 11.58 million). The following table indicates the exposure to non-renewals of existing
leases over the periods indicated:
in US$
31.12.2009

Petrovsky Fort
No later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

31.12.2008

(undiscounted amounts)
3,551,075 2,781,267
6,050,257 8,457,568
371,299 4,935,322

As of 31 December 2009, the top five tenants in the building, by
net rent paid in 2009 are CIT Finance, SET, PKC, KlinStar Europe and
Klondaik. These top five tenants account for approximately 27 %
of the annual net rent (2008: 22.4 %).
Petrovsky Fort
Remaining lease term

Less than one year
One to five years
More than five years

Percentage of space

Net rent as a
percentage of total

Office

Retail

Office

Retail

48 %
39 %
13 %

47 %
25 %
28 %

49 %
39 %
12 %

56 %
30 %
14 %

The fair value of Petrovsky Fort was determined to be US$ 59.11 million as of 31 December 2009 (2008: US$ 76.23 million) based on
an independent valuation prepared by Knight Frank, Moscow, which
was adjusted only for outstanding land lease obligations with
respect to the long-term leasehold land under the property. The valuation was based on discounted cash flow projections, using a
discount rate of 13 % on net income (2008: 12.0 %).
Petrovsky Fort is held via the subsidiary company Romsay
Properties Limited. The subsidiary company uses the RUB as its
functional currency and the US$ as its presentation currency.
The property is appraised in US$, then converted to a RUB carrying
value for the financial statements of Romsay. The RUB value may
change from one period to the next based on a change in the
appraised value, the US$/RUB exchange rate on balance sheet date,
or both. During the year, the US$ fair value of the property decreased by US$ 17.69 million (2008: US$ 25.63 million), while modest
weakening of the RUB against the US$ during the period offset
the decrease by US$ 0.33 million (2008: US$ 19.04 million). The net
unrealised loss of US$ 17.36 million has been recognised in the
income statement of the Group as at 31 December 2009 (2008: loss
of US$ 6.59 million).
As of 31 December 2009, Petrovsky Fort LLC had registered one
mortgage on the building which served as collateral for the
negotiation of a credit facility in the amount of US$ 40.00 million
from UniCredit Bank, Austria.
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Magistral’naya

Properties under development
Geneva House

in US$
31.12.2009

Magistralnaya
Beginning of the period
Addition
Revaluation
Land lease obligations
End of period

31.12.2008
in US$

17,895,961
–
– 17,800,000
– 10,255,442
–
7,611
95,961
7,648,130 17,895,961

Magistral’naya is an operational Class B office complex of three
buildings with a total combined area of 3,222 square meters
and leasehold rights in three conjoined land plots, located at the
intersection of Zvenigorodskoye Highway and the 3rd Transport
Ring Road.
As of 31 December 2009, International Building & Industrial Association “MOSSIB” occupied the entire office complex, though
MOSSIB’s lease agreement expired on September 30, 2009, and
was not prolonged by the Group. MOSSIB formerly occupied
the property under a direct lease, and as sublet tenant under a lease
with MS Development. Legal action has been taken by the Group
to collect accounts receivable and force MOSSIB to vacate the premises. All decisions by the Russian courts to date have been in
favor of the Group. MOSSIB continues to reimburse the Group for
utility costs, but no rental income has been recognised by the
Group since expiration of the MOSSIB lease.
Magistral’naya was held via a subsidiary Inspetsstroy LLC which is
owned by Eastern Property Partners LP (“EPP”). Before 31 December 2008 EPP was accounted for as financial investment and the
value of the property was reflected in Financial Investments.
Starting 31 December 2008 EPP is consolidated into the Group, and
the Magistral’naya property is classified as Investment Property.
The fair value of Magistral’naya was determined to be US$ 7.65 million as of 31 December 2009 (2008: US$ 17.90 million) based on
an independent valuation prepared by DTZ, which was adjusted only
for outstanding land lease obligations with respect to the longterm leasehold land under the property. The valuation was based
on discounted cash flow projections, using a discount rate of
14 % on net income (2008: 13 %).
The property is appraised in US$, then converted to a RUB carrying
value for the financial statements of Housefar. The RUB value
may change from one period to the next based on a change in the
appraised value, the US$/RUB exchange rate on balance sheet
date, or both. During the year, the US$ fair value of the property
decreased by US$ 10.26 million, while modest weakening of
the RUB against the US$ during the period offset the decrease by
US$ 0.41 million. The resulting net unrealised loss of US$ 9.84
million has been recognised in the income statement of the Group
as at 31 December 2009.

31.12.2009

Geneva House
Beginning of the period
Addition
Revaluation
Land lease obligations
End of period

31.12.2008

55,945,000
–
3,926,835 29,953,537
– 3,128,835 25,991,463
–
–
56,743,000 55,945,000

Geneva House is a 16,500 square meter commercial property at
7 Petrovka Street in Moscow. The building has more than 10,400
square meters of net rentable space, divided between 7,400
square meters of office space and 3,000 square meters of retail
space. Of the eight above-ground floors, six are devoted to office space and two are devoted to retail space. One of the four underground levels contains retail space, and the remaining three
contain 140 parking places.
Rights to Geneva House are held by EPH One, which in turn is
owned by EPH Real Estate, a 50 %-owned joint venture company
of the Group. Prior to 31 December 2008, funding provided for
the construction of Geneva House was accounted for as an Advance Payment.
The fair value of the Group’s 50 % interest in Geneva House was
determined to be US$ 56.74 million as of 31 December 2009 (2008:
US$ 55.94 million) based on an independent valuation prepared
by DTZ. As the building was not leased at 31 December 2009, it remained suitable for an owner occupier, an investment buyer, or
for long-term retention by the Group as a rental property. Until
leases have been signed, the property remains suitable for
an owner occupier. Given the different considerations an owner
occupier would have in choosing premises, the price such a
buyer is willing to pay, especially in a prestigious location, is generally higher than the yield-based price an investment buyer
would be expected to pay. As such, the comparable method was
applied for valuation, rather than a discounted cash flow projection which would assume that the property is leased to tenants and becomes a rental property.
EPH Real Estate uses the RUB as its functional currency and the
US$ as its presentation currency. The property is appraised in US$,
then converted to a RUB carrying value for financial reporting.
The RUB value may change from one period to the next based on a
change in the appraised value, the US$/RUB exchange rate on
balance sheet date, or both. During the year, the US$ fair value of
the property decreased by US$ 3.13 million (2008: Increase of
US$ 25.99 million), while modest weakening of the RUB against the
US$ during the period offset the decrease by US$ 0.14 million
(2008: Increase of US$ 7,44 million). The net unrealised loss of US$
2.99 million has been recognised in the income statement of the
Group as at 31 December 2009 (2008: gain of US$ 25.99 million).

Arbat Multi-use complexes
in US$
31.12.2009

Multi-use complexes
Beginning of the period
Addition
Revaluation
Land lease obligations
End of period

31.12.2008

27,837,277
–
1,759,965 27,837,277
– 9,542,553
–
–
–
20,054,689 27,837,277

In 2007 Eastern Property Partners LP (“EPP”), which is now 97.3 %
owned by the Company, acquired two Russian subsidiaries through
50 %-owned joint venture company Bluestone Investments Limited. These two companies own the rights to two construction and
development projects in the historical district in the center of
Moscow. The projects represent the construction of two multi-use
buildings of approximately 27,000 and 11,000 square meters.
Each project contains retail premises and residential apartments
with underground parking.
Apartments, which are intended for sale, are recognised as Assets
under development. Assets under development are kept at cost and
tested for impairment at each balance sheet date (Note 9).
Retail premises, which are intended for future use as rental property are recognised as Investment Property and carried at fair
value. The fair value of the retail premises was determined to be
US$ 20.05 million as of 31 December 2009 (2008: US$ 27.84
million) based on an independent valuation prepared by DTZ, which
was allocated between retail and residential apartments proportionately, based on estimated future revenues. The DTZ valuation
was based on discounted cash flow projections, using a discount rate of 10.5 % on net income (2008: 10 %) and adjusted
for anticipated costs of completion.

Land plots in St. Petersburg
in US$
31.12.2009

31.12.2008

–
31,972,824
13,396,176
–
45,369,000

–
–
–
–
–

Until 31 December 2008, the Group’s 103 hectare land plots near
St. Petersburg, acquired earlier in the year, were held through
Eastern Property Partners LP (“EPP”) and were classified as assets

Eastern Property Partners LP (“EPP”), which is now 97.3 % owned
by the Company, owns 100 % of Idelisa Limited, which owns three
land plots near St. Petersburg, Russia, with a total area of 103
hectares. The fair value of the land plots was determined to be US$
45.37 million as of 31 December 2009 based on an independent
valuation prepared by DTZ. As the land is currently held for undetermined use, it is understood that the best determinant of the asset’s value would be recent sale prices for comparable land. As no
reliable information is available as to prices paid for comparable
land, the appraiser has applied a residual value approach, in which
the value of the land is based on an estimate of the future potential net income a theoretical buyer would receive by developing
the property and adjusted for anticipated costs of completion.
Idelisa uses the RUB as its functional currency. Changing the classification of the Land Plots resulted in fair value appreciation of
US$ 13.4 million due to the difference between historical cost and
fair value. In addition, the fair value of the property decreased
by US$ 0.7 million as a result of exchange rate movements. The resulting net unrealised gain of US$ 12.7 million has been recognised in the income statement of the Group as at 31 December 2009.
Valuation of Investment Properties
The fair values of investment properties are based on their market
value determined by the independent appraisers, Knight Frank
(for Berlin House and Petrovsky Fort) and DTZ (for Magistral’naya,
Geneva House, Multi-Use Complexes and Land Plots in St. Petersburg), who hold recognised and relevant professional qualifications
and who have recent experience in valuation of properties of
similar location and category.

Bluestone Investments Limited uses the RUB as its functional currency, but the Multi-use complexes are appraised in US$. The
US$ fair value of the property has decreased by US$ 9.54 million,
while due to movements in US$/RUB exchange rate from
1 January 2009, the RUB fair value of the property has increased
by US$ 0.14 million. The net unrealised loss of US$ 9.4 million
has been recognised in the income statement of the Group as at
31 December 2009.

Land
Beginning of the period
Addition
Revaluation
Land lease obligations
End of period

under development. Until this date, EPP was a financial investment
of the Group. On 31 December 2009, the Group acquired control
of EPP and subsequently took the decision to hold the land for undetermined use. The land plots are held as Investment Property,
and carried at fair value.

In valuing the investment properties, Knight Frank has utilised
the term and reversion method based on certain assumptions with
respect to the rental rates which would be used upon the expiration of the current leases and the yield (“capitalisation rate”).
Except for Geneva House valuation, DTZ has used residual value methodology which does not make assumptions as to future
rents, but assumes that current rents will prevail and adjusts for
the various costs of acquiring, completing, and putting the asset
into operation. In this methodology, assumptions are made as
to the amount of credit and cost at which it would be available to
a theoretical buyer in the current market, and the return which
the buyer would demand in order to assume the risks involved in
the asset in the current market. When valuing development projects, the valuer has additionally assumed that various permits and
permissions which may not yet exist will be secured as and when
needed.
In valuing Geneva House DTZ utilised the sales comparison
approach based on an appraisal of the market value which is
derived from information on recent transactions and offers related
to the selected properties compared with Geneva House. It is
assumed that a prudent investor or buyer will not pay more for a
certain property than it would cost to obtain a similar property
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of similar utility and characteristics. Therefore, the price for which
the comparable property was sold should reflect the market value
of Geneva House.

9.Assets under development

ter of 2009 the Russian Federal Antimonopoly Service approved
the transaction. Though asset transfers had not been completed by
31 December 2009, the restructuring had been approved by the
shareholders and the relevant regulatory body, and no technical or
regulatory approvals remained. As such, EPH has valued Sarnatus
at 31 December 2009 as though the restructuring had been completed on balance sheet date.

in US$
31.12.2009

Assets under development
Multi-use complexes
Land
Improvements of land plots
Total

31.12.2008

40,892,244 41,114,007
– 27,299,896
– 3,984,815
40,892,244 72,398,718

Multi-use complexes under development
Space in the Multi-use Complexes which is being built for sale
is recognised as Assets under development. Retail premises, which
are expected to be retained and leased to tenants, are recognised
as Investment Property (Note 8).
Land and improvements
See Note 8.

10. Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
comprised the following
in US$
31.12.2009

Sarnatus Trading Limited
Other

31.12.2008

6,500,000 20,350,000
7,618,200 1,959,600
14,118,200 22,309,600

Sarnatus Trading Limited
Since July 2004, the Company has owned 10 % of Sarnatus Trading
Limited (“Sarnatus”). From 2004 until late 2009, Sarnatus was the
100 % owner of the “Mosmart” retail chain, shopping center assets
in Moscow, and an office building in Moscow.
Since 2006, the carrying value of Sarnatus, a Financial Investment
held at Fair Value on the EPH balance sheet, has been calculated
by adding the value of its retail operations based on market multiples
for listed peers, to the appraised value of the real estate, then
adjusting for the company’s debt.
Until late 2009, the primary assets of Sarnatus were held through a
number of 100 % owned subsidiaries:
In August 2009, in conjunction with the restructuring of existing
debt, and providing of an additional credit line by Sberbank, the company’s primary lender, the shareholders of Sarnatus agreed to
the transfer of the company’s retail and shopping center assets to
a new company in which a Sberbank affiliate would be the majority shareholder, and Sarnatus would own 40 %. In the fourth quar-

Sarnatus, post-restructuring, owns 100 % of an office building
in Moscow, and indirect 40 % stakes in Mosmart and four shopping
center assets in Moscow. In addition to its ownership of 10 % of
the share interests in Sarnatus, the Group’s Financial Investment in
Sarnatus includes a contract under which the founders and former majority shareholders of Sarnatus have granted the Group additional economic rights to Sarnatus’s assets. As such, the value
of Sarnatus on the Group’s balance sheet includes both the value
of the Sarnatus shares and these additional economic rights.
The fair value of Sarnatus has been calculated by adding 100 %
of the value of the office building, and 40 % of the equity value of
the Mosmart retail operations and shopping center assets, and
adjusting for direct and indirect debt which is to be in place at the
completion of the restructuring. The value of the Group’s additional economic rights is based on the same calculations. The 2010
budget and debt levels used for calculation of the value of the
Group’s Financial Investment have been provided by management
of Mosmart and Sarnatus, and are not based on audited financial statements, which do not yet exist for the most recent periods.
The equity value of Mosmart is calculated using average valuation
multiples of publicly traded Russian food retailers with similar
businesses, such as Enterprise Value to EBITDA, Enterprise Value to
Sales and Price to Earnings. This methodology involves the assumption that one of the peer group companies, all of which are
significantly larger than Mosmart, would be willing to acquire
the company at a valuation similar to their own in order to benefit
from added selling locations and volumes, or that the public itself would value the Mosmart chain similarly to its peer group if
it were listed on an exchange. In the case that peer companies
would only be interested in buying Mosmart at a significant discount to their own multiples, or that investors would only be
willing to buy a presumably less liquid share at a discount to larger
companies, the value of the company could be lower.
Knight Frank valued the direct and indirect real estate holdings of
Sarnatus, namely minority stakes in four shopping centers, and
100 % of an office building. In valuing the properties, Knight Frank
made certain assumptions, namely the rents at which current
leases would be renewed upon expiration, and more significantly,
the rent yield a potential buyer of the property would demand
or “capitalisation rate”. The initial yield used for calculating the
value of the shopping centers and office building at year-end
was 13 – 13.5 %.
In past periods the Company has described a US$ 2.22 million
contribution commitment to Sarnatus. An amended shareholder’s
agreement, signed in conjunction with the restructuring, has
removed this commitment. The Group has no additional commitments to fund Sarnatus.

Other financial investments
On 7 June 2007, the Company purchased an asset-backed floating rate note for GBP 1.78 million including accrued interest. During
2009 the GBP floating rate note was redeemed by the issuer.
On 23 April 2009, the Company purchased US$ 5 million of 9.25 %
bonds issued by Gazprom affiliate “Gaz Capital” at a price of
US$ 100.25. The bonds have a maturity date of 23 April 2019, but
there is an active secondary market for the bonds. During 2009,
US$ 1 million of the bonds were sold at US$ 111.6562. At 31 December 2009, the Company held US$ 4 million of the bonds, which
were had a market value of US$ 4.5 million.
On 22 April 2009, the Company purchased 250,000 units of the
Valartis Russian & CIS Fixed Income Fund. The fund invests in interest-bearing obligations in Russia and the CIS and shares can be
redeemed on a daily basis. The Company’s cost for the units was
US$ 2.5 million. On 31 December 2009, the value of the Company’s
holding was US$ 3.11 million.
The total fair value of Other financial investments as of 31
December 2009 is equal to US$ 7.9 million (2008: US$ 1.9 million).

11. Investments in Associates
in US$
31.12.2009

Hypercenter Investment SA
Beginning of year
Share of associates’ profits/ (losses)
Exchange differences
Other equity movements
Additional contribution
Closing balance

In 2005 – 2008 the Company made contributions to Hypercenter
Investment SA in the form of interest free loans. The loans are envisioned as being made by each shareholder pro-rata to ownership and, according to the shareholders agreement, effectively represent capital contributions. The Company did not participate
in the last round of loans to Hypercenter Investment SA, while the
other shareholders each provided additional financing in proportion to their ownership.
The primary assets of Hypercenter Investment as of 31 December
2009 were a shopping center project in Nizhny Novgorod which
is substantially completed but not yet open and a land site in Ryazan
which has been prepared for construction of a shopping center.
Additional assets of Hypercenter Investment, namely development
rights held in a number of subsidiary companies, have been given
no value.
The board of directors of Hypercenter Investment has not approved
the company’s 31 December 2008 financial statements, and no
audited financial information exists for 2009. As such, the equity
value of the investment in Hypercenter Investment SA as of
31 December 2009 is recognised based on the fair value of its primary assets in Nizhny Novgorod and Ryazan net of any debts.
The value of the shopping center is based on an appraisal by Knight
Frank, and the value of the Ryazan land is based on a sale
transaction which was underway, but not completed at balance
sheet date.

31.12.2008

13,113,282 27,889,587
– 10,020,458 – 18,907,307
– 367,965 – 1,048,997
–
–
– 5,180,000
2,724,860 13,113,282

Hypercenter Investment SA
In 2005, the Company made an initial capital contribution to
Hypercenter Investment SA which is a joint venture which was
organised to be the exclusive development partner for new
Mosmart-anchored shopping centers. Eastern Property Holdings
owns 25.9 % of Hypercenter Investment. The effective majority
shareholder in Hypercenter Investment SA, Athris Holdings AG,
which owns 49 % of the company, has the right to buy 2 % of
Hypercenter Investment SA from the Company at its most recent
balance sheet value. As the exercise price of this right is, by
definition, consistent with the Company’s carrying value for the
asset on balance sheet date, it has zero value to the Company
and does not create a liability.

As the Company did not make the contributions pro-rata to ownership, in estimating the value of its investments in Hypercenter
Investments SA the Group assumed that whether the loans made
by the shareholders are repaid, or converted to equity, the Group
would have rights to not 25.9 %, but 23.0 % of the value of the assets of the company.
Hypercenter Investment SA is an unlisted company incorporated in
Luxembourg.
in US$
31.12.2009

Vestive Limited
Beginning of the period
Share of associates’ profits / (losses)
Exchange differences
Other equity movements
Additional contribution
Closing balance

31.12.2008

39,635,882
–
– 5,191,917 – 17,397,689
– 2,332
–
–
– 57,033,571
34,441,633 39,635,882

Vestive Limited
The Company owns almost 100 % of the limited partnership
interests in Eastern Property Partners II (EPP II) which is the 50 %
owner of Vestive Limited, a company registered in Cyprus.
Vestive owns 100 % of Inkonika LLC, a Russian company with certain rights to the development of parking garages in the central administrative district of Moscow.
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On 16 January 2008, EPH made an initial contribution of US$ 9,000
to EPP II. Throughout 2008, EPH made additional contributions
totalling US$ 57.03 million to EPP II, which used US$ 48.03 million
to acquire 50 % of Vestive Limited and US$ 9.00 million as an
equity contribution to the acquired company. In addition, US$ 6.03
million was provided as a loan to Inkonika LLC through Redhill
Investment Limited (note 12).

in US$

Hypercenter Investment SA
Assets
Liabilities
Profit/ (loss)
Interest held

11,820,000 91,880,110
– 161,404,000
– 43,467,122 – 72,928,467
23.05 %
25.9 %

On 31 December 2009, Valartis Group merged its 100 % owned
subsidiaries Valartis International Ltd and Eastern Property
Management. As a result, Valartis International Ltd. became the
new General Partner of EPP II. As General Partner, Valartis
International has a nominal share in EPP II. In addition, Valartis
International has a nominal limited partnership interest in EPP II.

Vestive Limited
Assets
Liabilities
Profit/ (loss)
Interest held

90,433,457 93,898,227
21,550,191 14,626,463
– 10,383,834 – 34,795,379
50.0 %
50.0 %

As Valartis International’s combined interest in EPP II does not
represent a material amount, the Company is considered the only
significant partner, and the partnership was consolidated into
the Group.
Although the Group owns 50 % of Vestive Limited, the remaining
50 % is owned by two other investors. Based on terms of the shareholder’s agreement in place between the three owners of Vestive,
the Group cannot be said to control the company. Therefore, unlike joint venture companies EPH Real Estate and Bluestone, in
which the Group also owns 50 % but there is only one other shareholder with the remaining 50 %, Vestive Limited is treated as
an associate,
The fair value of Vestive’s assets was based on their market value
as determined by DTZ as independent appraiser using primarily
a residual value methodology. The residual value methodolog determines the value of an asset as if it currently exists, then deducts
the costs of bringing the asset from its current state to completion,
including a profit for the developer. DTZ holds recognised and
relevant professional qualifications and has recent experience in
valuation of properties of similar location and category. Assumptions have been made, including that permits and documentation which do not currently exist will be secured without significant
delay when needed to complete development projects.
The assets of Vestive’s wholly owned subsidiary, Inkonika, which
were valued at 31 December 2009, consisted of the rights to seven
parking projects in the city of Moscow. Due to successful opposition to one project by local residents, and privatisation of the
site of another by the federal government, discussions are currently underway between the city of Moscow and Inkonika to replace two of the current projects with two others. As the revocation of rights to the two projects would be through no fault
of Inkonika’s, management is confident that substitute projects
will be provided. In case no replacement projects are agreed, the
City would be required to refund documented costs. The Group
has the potential for other recourse as well. However, if the two
projects are cancelled, and no replacements are provided or
offsetting compensation received, the Group would recognise
a loss of approximately US$ 6.40 million based on the two
project’s current valuations.

31.12.2009

31.12.2008

12. Loans and Receivables
in US$
31.12.2009

Loans (non-current)
EPH Real Estate
Bluestone Investments
Vestive
Other
Loans (current)
EPH Real Estate
Mr Alexander Korolev
Bluestone Investments
Konkor
Other

31.12.2008

– 25,716,686
16,125,492
–
9,014,663 5,030,006
248,841
–
36,472,267
–
1,549,349 7,051,667
– 13,747,389
3,650,273 3,330,273
–
172,868
67,060,885 55,048,889

At 31 December 2009, USD 1.01 million of loan outstanding has
been past due but not impaired

Loans
EPH Real Estate
On 9 February 2007, the Group made a RUB 92.8 million loan to
EPH Real Estate. On 31 December 2008, the currency denomination
of this loan was changed from RUB to US$ and equals US$ 3.53
million. From 2007 to 2009 the Group made loans totalling US$
26.01 million to the joint venture company to finance the construction of the Geneva House project. The Company also made
an interest-free US$ 1.01 million loan to EPH Real Estate. Beginning 2007, according to IAS 31, the joint venture is partially consolidated by integration of 50 % of its balance sheet and income
statement. Except for one drawdown of USD 1.01 million which
matured on 31 December 2009, maturity date of all these loans
is 31 December 2010.
Mr Alexander Korolev and ZAO Konkor
On 17 December 2007, the Company signed a US$ 5.00 million
loan agreement with Mr Alexander Korolev, which was further increased to US$ 6.50 million on 28 May, 2008. The loan was secured by the surety of ZAO SIK Konkor (“Konkor”), a company in
which Mr. Korolev was one of the primary shareholders.

On 31 July 2008, Redhill, an EPH subsidiary, signed a loan agreement with Konkor for US$ 3.20 million. The loan is secured by the
surety of Mr. Vladimir Kononov, another primary Konkor shareholder. Maturity date of both loans is 28 December 2010.
The proceeds of the loans were used by Mr. Korolev and Konkor in
conjunction with a development project to build a hotel and business center in central Moscow. The Company expected the loans to
be applied to its purchase price for a majority stake in the project.
On 30 April 2009, the Company and the shareholders of ZAO SIK
“Konkor”, Mr Korolev and Mr Kononov, signed an agreement providing EPH with the right to acquire 70 % of ZAO Konkor, which is
the party to an investment contract with the city of Moscow,
under which it owns the rights to the hotel and business center
development.
The agreement can be cancelled by the Konkor shareholders at any
time, including the period between serving of exercise notice
and delivery of the Konkor stake, by repayment of the loan amount.
As such, it serves to collateralise the loan, but does not represent
additional upside and has no additional fair value.
The development project was valued by DTZ at 31 December 2009.
As the Company is able to exercise its right to 70 % of the shares of
Konkor, and the project is the company’s primary asset, the Company has impaired the value of the loans and accrued interest to
US$ 5.2 million, which is 70 % of the appraised value of the project.
Bluestone Investments
During 2007 – 2008, the Group made a loan of RUB 311.30 million to CJSC IC Otdelstroy, a wholly owned subsidiary of Geneva
House LLC to finance construction on the Multi-use complex
in central Moscow. On 31 December 2008, the currency of this loan
was changed from RUB to US$ making the principal amount of
the loan US$ 12.74 million.
During 2009 the Group made loans totalling US$ 0.48 million to
the joint venture company to finance the construction of the
Multi-use complex. Maturity date of this loan is 31 December 2010.
Since 31 December 2008, according to IAS 31, the Group has partially consolidated Bluestone by integration of 50 % of its balance sheet. Prior to 31 December 2008, Bluestone was treated as
a Financial investment.
Vestive
On 18 March 2008, the Group made a loan of RUB 141.45 million
to Inkonika LLC. Inkonika uses the proceeds of these loans to finance the construction of parking garages in the center of Moscow.
On 1 January 2009, the currency of this loan was changed from
RUB to US$ and equalled US$ 5.98 million. On 10 August 2009 the
Group also made an interest-free US$ 1.65 million loan to
Inkonika LLC.

13. Taxation
The Company is a Business Corporation, which is tax exempt
in the British Virgin Islands. Therefore, profits can be paid out and
accumulated free of any corporate tax or withholding tax.
The Company owns Berlin House through Connecta KG, a German
special purpose vehicle.
Taxation of Connecta in Germany
As a limited partnership Connecta KG is “tax transparent” and therefore not subject to income tax. Connecta KG in general is subject to trade tax. However, since the only income generating asset
is located and managed exclusively in Russia, the basis for the
trade tax potentially payable in Germany according to German permanent establishment guidelines amounts to nil.
Tax would become payable in Germany for EPH as Connecta KG’s
foreign limited partner, if the administration of Berlin House
by Connecta KG entailed that the owner of Connecta KG maintains
a permanent establishment in Germany. However, the fact that
the property is located in Russia and is managed by a Russian permanent establishment entails that income generated by Berlin
House is taxable only in Russia and that Connecta KG cannot be regarded as a German permanent establishment of its
shareholders.
Taxation in Russia
The Group’s subsidiaries in Russia are liable for the following taxes
in the Russian Federation (save for payroll taxes, if any):
–– 20 % payable on the taxable profit calculated as the difference
between rental income and tax deductible expenses incurred
by the companies in connection with the permanent establishment;
–– 2.2 % property tax on the book value of the properties.
According to Russian Accounting Standards (RAS) Connecta and
Petrovsky Fort incurred a loss in 2009, so rent income was not
subject to taxation. Inspetsstroy LLC had a taxable profit according
to RAS and paid income taxes of US$ 164 thousand.
Tax losses have been recognised as a deferred income tax asset
as it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the unused tax losses can be utilised.
As of 31 December 2009, the available tax losses capable of being
carried forward can be offset against taxable profits for the next
10 years.
Due to the presence in Russian commercial legislation, and tax
legislation in particular, of provisions allowing more than one interpretation, and also due to the practice by tax authorities of
making arbitrary judgment of business activities in a generally unstable environment, it is possible that a particular treatment
based on management’s judgment of the Group’s business activities could be challenged by the tax authorities and the Group
may be assessed additional taxes, penalties and interest. While the
Group believes it has complied with all applicable regulations
and requirements, the regulations are not always clearly written,
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and it is difficult to predict future interpretations by regulatory
authorities, and outcomes of such interpretations. The management of the Group considers the probability of any sanctions being
undertaken by local authorities against the Group as remote, and
believes that no fines or penalties will become payable.

14. Related Party Transactions
The Company owns almost 100 % of Connecta GmbH & Co. KG
and Romsay Properties Ltd. The Company owns almost 100 % of
Eastern Property Partners II LP and Geneva House LP, through
which it holds 50 % stakes in Vestive and EPH Real Estate, respectively. Through its ownership of over 97 % of the limited partnership interests in Eastern Property Partners LP, the Company holds
stakes in Bluestone, Housefar, Whiterock, Silverlake, and Idelisa.
The Company also owns 25.9 % of Hypercenter Investment SA and
10 % of Sarnatus Trading Limited. As such, each of these companies are to be considered related parties. The Group’s transactions
with these companies in the year under review, subsequent to
the year-end, and planned in the future are described in Notes
8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 16, 20, 21.

(2008: reversal of US$ 4.6 million). Until 31 December 2009, the
partnerships owned by EPH (Eastern Property Partners, Eastern
Property Partners II and Geneva House LP) were advised by Valartis
Asset Management based on separate agreements, though fees
paid for these advisory services are deducted from amounts payable to Valartis International (formerly EPML) under its management agreement. Any fees paid under the property management
agreements with Connecta KG and Petrovsky Fort LLC in excess
of the actual cost of providing the services are deducted from
amounts payable under the Real Estate Management Agreement.
On 31 December 2009, Valartis International Limited held 339,703
shares of EPH, and Valartis Bank AG held 16,546 shares. Both of the
Valartis companies are subsidiaries of Valartis Group AG. ENR
Group, which is majority owned by Valartis Group owned 493,000
shares. MCT Global Opportunities Fund, which is managed by
Valartis International Limited, held 100,000 shares of EPH.

15. Borrowings
in US$
31.12.2009

The following 100 %-owned subsidiaries of Valartis Group have (or
had during 2009) contractual agreements in place with the
Group under which management fee / advisory fees / performance
fees are charged:
–– Eastern Property Management Ltd (EPML) had a management
agreement with EPH, and was General Partner of EPP LP, EPP II
LP, and Geneva House LP until it was dissolved on 31 December 2009 due to a merger with Valartis International Ltd.
–– Valartis International Ltd succeeded EPML as party to the management agreement due to the merger of the two Valartis Group
subsidiaries.
–– Valartis International Ltd succeeded EPML as General Partner
due to the merger of the two Valartis Group subsidiaries.
–– Valartis International Ltd. owns under 3 % of the limited
partnership interests in EPP LP, and nominal limited partnership
interests in EPP II and Geneva House LP.
–– Valartis International Ltd. has property management agreements with Connecta KG and Petrovsky Fort LLC.
–– Valartis Asset Management had advisory contracts with EPP,
EPP II and Geneva House LP until 31 December 2009. Starting
1 January 2010, Valartis Asset Management has an advisory
agreement with EPH.
Employees of the Valartis group companies are members of the
Management Committee and Board of Directors of the Company.
The total amount of management and advisory fees earned by
all Valartis Group subsidiaries under all contracts described above
is limited at 2 % of the net assets of the Group as defined by
the Real Estate Management Agreement between EPML (Valartis
International Limited) and EPH.
For the year, US$ 7.3 million (2008: US$ 10.1 million) was paid or
payable as management fees, and US$ 3.4 million has been
reversed from the provision accrued in previous years for payment
of performance fees based on net reduction of the current values of the Company’s financial investments and real estate assets

Borrowings (Non-Current)
Aareal Bank loan
Borrowings (Current)
Unicredit Bank Ioan
Aareal Bank loan
Other

31.12.2008

37,600,000 39,200,000
39,100,000
–
800,000
–
3,294,022 2,993,725
80,794,022 42,193,725

The Group’s bank debt consists of two loans with an average all-in
cost of approximately 9.1 % per annum and partial amortisation
over their five-year terms.
Aareal bank loan
In October 2007 the Group drew a US$ 40.00 million, non-recourse
5 year term loan from Aareal Bank AG secured by Berlin House.
The terms of the facility agreement require that the ratio of net rental income to outstanding credit liabilities must not be less than
13 %. In the case the ratio falls below this threshold, Connecta KG
is to pay 50 % of its net rental profits to an account pledged to
the bank. Should the ratio fall below 11 %, Connecta KG is obligated
to pay 100 % of its net rental profits to the pledged account.
The bank will repay these amounts to the borrower, once the ratio
has been within the provisions of the credit agreement for two
consecutive interest payment periods. In case the ratio falls below
11 %, the bank may exert an extraordinary right to cancel the
credit agreement.
Furthermore, the Aareal Bank loan agreement foresees the compliance with an interest coverage degree of 160 %, meaning the net
rental income must not be less 160 % of the interest payment
obligations for a 12 month period.
The Loan-to-Value provision of the agreement dictates that
the overall credit amount granted to the borrower can be equal to
a maximum of 70 % of the fair value of the building.

Unicredit bank loan
Effective 23 September 2008, the Group entered into a facility
agreement which was amended and restated on 2 December 2008
with Unicredit Bank of Austria whereby the lender agreed to
make available to the Group a credit facility up to US$ 45.00 million
secured by Petrovsky Fort.

term sheet signed by Unicredit and the Group. Under the terms
of this waiver, the loan is no longer immediately callable, and would
no longer be considered a Current liability.

In January 2009 the Group drew a US$ 40.00 million, non-recourse
5 year term loan from UniCredit Bank under this agreement .

in US$

16. Provisions for Liabilities and Charges
31.12.2009
Performance fee

Under the loan agreement between the Group and UniCredit Bank
for an original principal amount of US$ 40.00 million, the ratio of
debt service to net rental income (DSCR) shall not fall below 135 %,
meaning the net rental income must not be less than 135 % of
the interest and amortisation payment obligations for the next 12
months. If the ratio falls below 135 %, the Group should ensure
that excess rental income after payment of debt service is paid into
an account pledged to the bank. Under certain circumstances
the bank can use the amounts deposited to pay down the principal
amount of the loan, otherwise they will be released to the Group.
The DSCR is tested at each quarterly interest payment date. If it falls
below 100 % the bank has the right to accelerate the loan. The
Loan-to-Value provision of the agreement, as signed, dictates that
the overall credit amount outstanding under the loan agreement
cannot equal more than 65 % of the fair value of the building and
is tested annually.
Increased vacancies at Petrovsky Fort, lower rent levels, and higher
yields used for valuation purposes have resulted in both lower
cash flows and a lower valuation for the property. The 31 December 2009 valuation does not result in a LTV of 65 % (but 68 %).
The Group received notice that it was in default of the LTV
covenant on 12 February 2010.
Both current income and budgeted income showed that the property would not meet the 135 % DSCR covenant for the next
quarterly testing date and would fall below 100 %. The Group received notice that it was in default of the DSCR covenant on
5 February 2010. As per the terms of the facility agreement, surplus
net cash flows from Petrovsky Fort are being deposited into an
existing special bank account with the option to use them to reduce the debt. Negotiations were initiated with UniCredit Bank
under which the Group would make certain payments on behalf of
the borrower, and invest in the property in order to enhance it’s
competitiveness in anticipation of a recovery of the St. Petersburg
rental market in return for the waiver or temporary revision of
the LTV and DSCR covenants.
As the conditions of default were present at 31 December 2009,
and violation of the DSCR covenant allowed UniCredit to demand repayment of the loan, it was treated as a Current liability
as of 31 December 2009. On 14 April 2010 the credit committee of
Unicredit has approved the waiver of the DSCR covenant for
2010, and has temporarily adjusted the LTV covenant so that it is
complied with according to the 2009 YE valuation. Furthermore,
scheduled amortisation payments are being reduced during 2010,
while EPH has committed to expenditures for renovation and
improvement of the asset. The documentation of this agreement
is currently being drafted by legal counsel based on the binding

Opening balance
Additional provisions
Reversal
Closing balance

Others

7,649,981

Total

79,929 7,729,910
100,900
100,900
– – 3,360,849
180,829 4,469,961

– 3,360,849
4,289,132

Analysis of total provisions
Non-current
Current
Closing balance

31.12.2009

31.12.2008

4,289,132
180,829
4,469,961

7,649,981
79,929
7,729,910

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely
than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Valartis International Limited is to receive a performance fee equaling 15 % of the appreciation of the Group’s investments.
Provisions are made for the payment of performance fees each
reporting period, but the fees are only paid if there is a cash event
involving a holding which has appreciated in value. Payment of
performance fees is also subject to a high water mark which is the
per share net asset value of the Company at the time of the prior
payment of a performance fee. A performance fee was paid when
Berlin House was refinanced in October 2007, setting the high
water mark at US$ 111.86 per share. Provisions for performance
fees are also reduced when the value of an asset decreases.
The amount of a performanc fee is set when a cash event occurs,
though the fee will only be paid when the high water mark is
again reached.

17. Other non-current liabilities
in US$

Tenant deposits (interest free)
Finance lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
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31.12.2009

31.12.2008

1,135,683
2,543,372
–
3,679,055

1,390,094
2,467,459
410,001
4,267,554

Finance Land Lease Liabilities
Land lease liability represents current and non-current obligations
of the Group in relation to rent payments to the cities of Moscow
and St. Petersburg for lease of the land under Berlin House and
Petrovsky Fort and Magistralnaya. Minimum lease payments under
operating leases are accounted for as financial leases and the present values of these payments as at 31 December 2009 are as follows:
in US$

Gross finance lease liabilities – minimum lease payments:
2009

Due in 1 year
Due between 2 and 5 years
Due after 5 years
Future finance charges on finance leases
Present value of finance lease liabilities

2008

281,451
276,744
1,125,803 1,106,976
9,601,347 9,747,640
– 8,465,229 – 8,663,901
2,543,372 2,467,459

in US$

Gross finance lease liabilities – minimum lease payments:
Due in 1 year
Due between 2 and 5 years
Due after 5 years
Present value of finance lease liabilities

2009

2008

11,667
60,028
2,471,677
2,543,372

9,841
50,588
2,407,030
2,467,459

The effective interest rate implicit in the operating leases accounted for as finance leases is 11 %.
As at 31 December 2009, the estimated fair value of finance land
lease liability does not differ significantly from the carrying value.

18. Shareholders’ Equity
Authorised Capital
Article 5 of the Company‘s Memorandum of Association, as amended
by the resolutions passed at the Extraordinary shareholders meeting
of 29 June 2004, 19 November 2004 and 7 March 2005, and the
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of 16 May 2006 and
3 May 2007 provides for an authorised capital which entitles the
Board of Directors to issue a total of 9,000,000 registered ordinary
Shares without par value and 1,000,000 registered Series A preferred shares without par value.
Article 3.4 of the Articles of Association foresees that the Existing
shareholders shall, in principle, be entitled to subscription rights in
the context of an authorised capital increase.
Treasury shares do not participate in profits of the Group and
do not carry any voting rights. All outstanding shares rank equally
as to dividends and all other pecuniary rights associated with
share ownership. Common shares are entitled to one vote each.
Preferred A shares are not entitled to vote.
During the year, the Company did not pay any dividend. No
Preferred A shares are outstanding or in issue.

Change of capital
in US$

Authorised capital
Number of ordinary Number of series A preferred
shares
shares
31.12.2009

31.12.2008

31.12.2009

31.12.2008

Total authorised capital
9,000,000 9,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
Opening balance unissued
authorised capital
3,661,868 3,661,868 1,000,000 1,000,000
Increase
–
–
–
–
Utilisation for capital
increase
–
–
–
–
Conversion to ordinary
shares
–
–
–
–
Closing balance unissued
authorised capital
3,661,868 3,661,868 1,000,000 1,000,000
Issued share capital
Number of ordinary Number of series A preferred
shares
shares
31.12.2009

Opening Balance
Capital increase
Closing balance

31.12.2008

31.12.2009

31.12.2008

5,338,132 5,338,132
–
–
5,338,132 5,338,132

–
–
–

–
–
–

Treasury shares

Opening Balance
Issued to treasury
Purchase
Sales
Closing balance

31.12.2009

31.12.2008

Number of shares

Number of shares

546,153
–
529,366
–
1,075,519

448,903
–
97,250
–
546,153

19. Controlled Subsidiaries

20. Real Estate Manager

The consolidated financial statements comprise the following
subsidiaries:
Name
of subsidiary

Connecta
Gmbh & Co.
KG
Geneva
House LP
Eastern
Property
Partners II LP
Eastern
Property
Partners LP
Housefar
Limited

Share
capital

Incorporated in

Consolidated
since

%
Holding

Frankfurt am
Main,
Germany
Grand Cayman,
Cayman Islands

EUR 17,867,095

Full period 98.75 %

USD 349,979.50

Full period

100 %

Grand Cayman,
Cayman Islands

USD 10,000

Full period

100 %

USD 23,500,000

Full period 97.32 %

EUR 3,420

Full period

100 %

EUR 2,000

Full period

100 %

EUR 2,000

Full period

100 %

EUR 2,000

Full period

100 %

EUR 5,000

Full period

100 %

EUR 1,000

Full period 99.90 %

Limassol,
Cyprus

EUR 10,000

Full period

50 %

Limassol,
Cyprus

EUR 17,100

Full period

50 %

Grand Cayman,
Cayman Islands
Limassol,
Cyprus
Limassol,
Idelisa Limited Cyprus
Silverlake
Limassol,
Limited
Cyprus
Stainfield
Limassol,
Limited
Cyprus
Limassol,
Redhill Limited Cyprus
Romsay
Properties
Limassol,
Limited
Cyprus
Jointly controlled entities

EPH Real
Estate Ltd.
Bluestone
Investments
Limited

From 2003 until the end of 2009, real estate activities of the
Group have been managed by Eastern Property Management Limited,
a subsidiary of Valartis Group AG. In December 2009, Eastern
Property Management Ltd. merged with Valartis International Ltd.,
another Valartis Group subsidiary. As a result, the real estate
activities of the Company are now managed by Valartis International Ltd. Employees of Valartis Group are members of the
Management Committee and Board of Directors of the Company.
Under the terms of the Real Estate Management Agreement,
Valartis International is entitled to a management fee calculated
at an annual rate of 2 % of the average net asset value of the
Group, plus VAT, if applicable. For the purpose of calculating the
NAV underlying the management fee, any outstanding debt issued the Group that is convertible into, or exchangeable for, equity
either on the date the management fee is calculated, or on a
later date, will be treated as equity. The management fee is subject to semi-annual adjustments to reflect changes in the NAV
derived from the Group’s most recent published financial statements. The management fee is payable quarterly in arrears. As
of 31 December 2009 the unpaid management fee is US$ 5.9 million.
From 1 May 2008 until 31 December 2009, advisory agreements
were in place between Valartis Asset Management SA., a subsidiary
of Valartis Group and Geneva House LP, Eastern Property Partners
LP, Eastern Property Partners II LP (“the partnerships”). Under the
agreements, Valartis Asset Management S.A. was entitled to
an advisory fee calculated at an annual rate of 2 % of the average
gross value of the investment holdings of the partnerships, plus
VAT, if applicable. Starting 1 January 2010, Valartis Asset Management invoices EPH for advisory services based on actual time
spent. Advisory fees payable by EPH or the partnerships under the
management agreements with Valartis Asset Management are
deducted from the fees payable to Valartis International Limited
under the Real Estate Management Agreement.
Valartis International (previously EPML) is entitled to a performance
fee of 15 % of the appreciation of the Company’s investment
properties, financial investments, and other investments, subject
to a high water mark principle, and payable only in case of a
cash event with respect to an appreciated asset. Until such realisation, any accruals of the performance fee will be reflected on
the balance sheet as a provision.
For the year 2009, US$ 7.3 million (2008: US$ 10.1 million) was
paid or payable as management fees, and US$ 3.4 million has been
reversed from the provision accrued in previous years for payment of performance fees based on net reduction of the current
values of the Company’s financial investments and real estate
assets (2008: reversal of US$ 4.6 million).
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21. Cash and Cash Equivalents
in US$

23. Contingencies

31.12.2009
Valartis Bank*

Cash at bank
and in hand
Fiduciary deposits
Money market
instruments
Bank overdraft
Cash and
cash equivalents
Total cash
and cash equivalents

31.12.2008
Others

Valartis Bank*

1,173,746 3,133,711
– 256,044
–
– 15,489

–
–

Others

5,052,854 2,797,852
– 783,760
–
– 3,716

344,702
–

1,158,257 3,389,755

5,049,138 3,926,314

4,548,012

8,975,452



T he amount of US$ 90,468 is deposited on Stainfield’s bank account
pledged to Unicredit bank to secure the loan. Under certain
circumstances the bank can use the amounts deposited to pay
down the principal amount of the loan (note 15).

22. Potential Conflicts of Interest
The investment process has been designed to exclude, as far as possible, conflicts of interest. It is nevertheless possible that conflicts of interest may arise between the investment manager, Valartis
International Limited (previously EPML), the members of the
Management Committee and Board of Directors, and the Company.
In particular:
–– The members of the Management Committee will not work
exclusively for the Group and some members may serve similar
roles in other Valartis Group companies.
–– Members of the Board of Directors and the Management
Committee are not precluded from privately investing in properties or companies in which the Group is invested or in
which it may consider investing.
–– Valartis International Ltd. could manage real estate investments
which are not EPH assets.
Valartis International Limited will, in such event, have regard to its
obligations under the Real Estate Management Agreement and,
in particular, to its obligations to act in the Company’s best interest,
as far as practicable and having regard to its obligations to
other clients, when potential conflicts of interest may arise. Neither
Valartis International Limited nor the Management Committee
will, in relation to any of the Company’s investments or proposed
investments, deal with the Company as principal or agent, except in circumstances where it is able to show that the terms of the
dealing are at arm’s length, or, if the circumstances do not make
it feasible to show that, where the Board of Directors gives its
consent.
The arrangement of allocating a performance fee to Valartis
International Limited may create an incentive to make investments
that are riskier or more speculative than would be the case in
the absence of such an arrangement. Valartis International Limited
may receive compensation based on unrealised appreciation of
the Company’s assets as well as on realised gains.

Russian Federation tax and regulatory environment
Russian tax legislation is subject to frequent change and some
of the laws related to Russian taxes are comparatively new. Differing
interpretations of tax regulations exist both among and within government ministries and organisations at the federal, regional
and local levels, leading to uncertain and inconsistent enforcement. In particular, taxes are subject to review and investigations
by a number of authorities enabled by law to impose fines and
penalties. While the Company believes it has provided adequately
for all tax liabilities based on its understanding of the tax legislation, the above facts may create tax risks for the Company.
The Russian Federation is still developing the legal framework required to support a market economy. Frequently, it will not be
possible to determine in advance whether a proposed course of
action is legal, or would be considered legal by a court or other governmental authority of competent jurisdiction. If, in an unpredictable legal environment, a Russian court or a governmental authority takes a position unfavourable to the Company,
it could materially and adversely affect its business, financial
condition, results of operations, properties and prospects.
In order to use and develop land in Russia, approvals and consents
of various federal, regional, and local governmental authorities
are required. The approval and consent requirements vary from locality to locality; they are numerous, sometimes contradictory,
subject to change without public notice, and are occasionally applied retroactively. In view of the complexities of Russian land
legislation, it is, even with utmost diligence, often difficult to assure full compliance of real estate properties and developments
with all governmental and administrative regulations in Russia.
If any of the Company’s existing or prospective real estate
investments is found not to be in compliance with all applicable
regulations, it may have a material adverse effect on such property and on the Company’s overall financial condition, results
of operations, business and prospects.

24. Commitments and Contingencies
As a result of its investment and development activities, the Company has entered into commitments with its 50 %-owned joint
venture company and its subsidiary totalling US$ 3.23 million as of
31 December, 2009:
1. EPH Real Estate Ltd: undrawn facility of US$ 0.24 million;
2. EPH One LLC: undrawn loan facility of US$ 2.99 million;

25. Subsequent Events
Based on conditions existing at 31 December 2009, UniCredit
declared, in February, that the Group was in default on its US$ 40
million loan facility, secured by Petrovsky Fort, making the loan
immediately callable. As such, the Group treated the loan as a Current liability on its 31 December 2009 balance sheet. On 14 April,
UniCredit’s credit committee approved temporary amendments to
the facility agreement (see note 15) remedying the default conditions. As such, the loan would no longer be treated as a Current
liability.
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Three-Year Financial Summary
in US$
2009

2008

2007

32,212,546 62,533,667
16,355,842
19,591,618
– 38,198,797 26,603,254
– 16,918,710 – 37,010,556
7,819,838 12,504,473
534
1,239,523

95,846,994
18,113,771
48,092,186
11,918,493
5,028,176
62,844

Net operating (loss)/ profit

– 44,054,906 – 33,132,398

68,136,125

Net (loss)/ income for the year

– 66,860,302 – 72,697,071

67,336,364

Turnover and results
Total revenues
Gross rental income
Net (loss)/ gain from fair value adjustment on investment property
Net (loss)/ gain from fair value adjustment on financial investments
Interest income
Other income

Ratios
Net assets
Number of shares outstanding
Net asset value per share
Earnings per share

332,011,903 415,774,590 527,143,247
4,262,613
4,791,979
4,889,229
77.89
86.76
107.82
– 15.13
– 15.17
18.77

Investment Guidelines

1. Objective
The objective of Eastern Property Holdings (the “Company”) is
to invest directly, through subsidiaries, or via participation in other
companies, in real estate in Russia, the CIS, and other formerly
socialist countries or their successors in Central or Eastern Europe
in order to provide capital appreciation and dividend income to its
shareholders. Investments may be existing properties or development
projects which are intended to provide capital appreciation and / or
rent income. The Company may also purchase participations in other
companies with real estate-related activities and provide real estate
financing, real estate management, sale and leaseback of real estate
and enter into real estate-related financial transactions.

2. Investments
2.1 Real estate investments
Investment targets are commercial, residential and industrial
properties located within our geographic mandate which provide a
reasonable risk / return ratio. The main criteria to be considered
are as follows:
––
––
––
––
––
––
––
––
––
––

Potential for value appreciation;
Current profitability;
Quality of location;
Occupancy;
Quality of tenants;
Economic outlook;
Infrastructure;
Architecture;
Standard of fittings;
Flexibility of usage.

2.2 Development projects
Development projects might be new construction or refurbishing
of existing buildings. If development projects are undertaken
with a partner, special care must be to protect the interests of the
Company through the structure and contractual framework of
the endeavor.
2.3 Financing of real estate investments
The Company intends to optimise the return on its investments
through the conservative use of leverage. Interest expenses will be
considered on a consolidated basis.
2.4 Participations in companies
The Company can also invest in majority or minority participations
in other companies with real estate-related activities, including
real estate management.

2.6 Financial investments
For temporary or defensive purposes, the Company’s assets can
also be invested in financial instruments, such as stock, listed shares,
bonds, investment funds and other liquid financial instruments.
The investment in options, futures and other derivatives is only permitted for hedging purposes. The Company may furthermore
engage into other financial transactions such as currency and interest
rate forwards and swaps for hedging purposes.
2.7 Other investments
The Company can also, subject to approval of the Board of
Directors, invest up to 10 % of its assets in non-real estate-related
investments.

3. Valuation
The entire real estate portfolio will be appraised once a year by an
independent real estate appraiser. The results of the yearly appraisal
will be used as the basis for valuation in the Company’s annual
report. For the purpose of the half year report, a simplified valuation
method will be applied.

4. Investment Process
4.1 Approval by the Board of Directors
All purchases or sales of properties and all investments in other
assets in excess of US$ 10.00 million, with the exception of
financial investments for temporary or cash management purpose
must be approved by the Board of Directors.
4.2 Analysis
Prior to approval, Eastern Property Management Limited will present
a comprehensive analysis of potential investments, including
financing. Analysis must be based on conservative cost, timing, and
rent or sale assumptions.

5. Changes to, and Compliance
with the Investment Guidelines
The Investment Guidelines can be changed by resolution of the Board
of Directors. Compliance with the Investment Guidelines is verified
periodically by the Board of Directors.
The Investment Guidelines will be posted on the Company’s website:
www.easternpropertyholdings.com.

2.5 Real estate financing
The Company may provide real estate financing secured by mortgages
or other adequate guarantees.
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Glossary

Developments
Property under development for the purpose of inclusion in investment
property at completion.

Net initial yield
The net rental income divided by cost of acquisition
(including all transaction costs).

Effective ERV (EERV)
ERV including the net effects of lease incentives.

Net rental income
Gross rental income less property expenses directly related
to letting and holding the properties.

Estimated rental value (ERV)
The estimated market value of lettable space, being passing rent
plus vacancy loss and under-rented loss and less over-rent gain.
Estimated to complete (ETC)
Costs still to be expended on a development or redevelopment
to practical completion (not to complete letting), including
attributable interest.
Gross current yield
The passing rent divided by the fair value of the portfolio or of the
property.
Gross initial yield
The passing rent divided by cost of acquisition
(including all transaction costs).
Gross rental income
Contractual rental income for the period from let properties,
after taking into account the net effects of straightlining for lease
incentives.
Initial reversionary yield
Estimated rental value divided by cost of acquisition
(including all transaction costs).
Lettable space
Any part of a property that can be leased to a tenant.
Like-for-like
Comparable information relating to elements which existed for
the whole of the current and prior year period.
Market rent
The estimated amount for which a property, or space within a property,
should lease on the date of valuation between a willing lessor
and a willing lessee on appropriate terms in an arm’s-length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each
acted knowledgeably, prudently, and without compulsion.
Market value
The estimated amount for which a property should exchange on
the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller
in an arm’s-length transaction after proper marketing wherein the
parties had each acted knowledgably, prudently, and without
compulsion.
Net current yield
The net rental income divided by the fair value of the portfolio
or of the property.

Over-rented space
Space that is let at a passing rent above the estimated rental value.
Over-rent gain
The amount by which the passing rent exceeds the market rent.
Passing rent
The annual gross rental income as per a certain date, excluding
the net effects of straightlining for lease incentives.
Pre-let
A lease signed with an occupier prior to completion of a development.
Property expenses
The expenses directly relating to a property for a certain period
of time for the account of the landlord including service charges
not recoverable because of vacancy.
Prospective rental income
Passing rent plus reversion to take place in the next financial period.
Rent roll
See: passing rent
Reversion
The estimated change in rent at review based on today’s market rents.
Service charges
The amounts (pre)paid by the landlord relating to lettable space
for which it has been agreed with tenants to recover these amounts
from the tenants periodically.
Terminal capitalisation rate
Rate used to convert income into an indication of the anticipated
value of the property at the end of the holding period.
Theoretical rent
Gross rental income plus the effective ERV applied to vacant space
(voids) over the reporting period.
Total development cost
All capital expenditure on a development project including the
opening book value of the property on commencement of
development, including attributable interest and other costs.
Trading property
Property held with the intention to sell.
Turnover rent
Any element of rent (to be) received related to the turnover
of a tenant.

Under-rented space
Space where the passing rent is below the estimated rental value.
Under-rent loss
The amount by which the market rent exceeds the passing rent.
Vacancy loss at reporting date
The estimated effective rental value for the total of vacant space
at the reporting date.
Vacancy loss for the reporting period
The estimated market rental value for the total of vacant space
for the reporting period.
Vacancy rate at the reporting date
The vacancy loss expressed as a percentage of the estimated
effective rental value for the lettable space of the portfolio at the
reporting date.
Vacancy rate for the reporting period
The vacancy loss for the reporting period expressed as a percentage
of theoretical rent.
Vacant space
Unrented lettable space
Value of developments on completion
Calculation in today’s terms of developments if they were complete
assuming current rental values and yields.
Void
Vacant space
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